
 

 

Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

 

Date: Thursday, 6th December, 2007 

Time: 10.00 a.m. 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the 
meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Tim Brown, Members' Services, Tel 01432 
260239 
E-Mail: tbrown@herefordshire.gov.uk 

  
 
 
 
County of Herefordshire 
District Council 

 

 



 
 



COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 6TH DECEMBER, 2007 
 
 

AGENDA 
for the Meeting of the Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
To: Councillor JK Swinburne (Chairman) 

Councillor SPA Daniels (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 Councillors WU Attfield, MJ Fishley, KS Guthrie, P Jones CBE, G Lucas, 

GA Powell, A Seldon, AP Taylor and PJ Watts 
 

  

  

 Pages 

  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)     
   
 To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place 

of a Member of the Committee. 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

this agenda. 
 

   
4. MINUTES   1 - 8  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 20th September, 

2007 
 

   
5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
6. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE COUNCIL AND 

THE HEALTH PROTECTION AGENCY   
9 - 12  

   
 To provide an update on the preparation of a memorandum of 

understanding between the Council and the Health Protection Agency. 
 

   
7. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2007     
   
 To receive a presentation on the Annual report of the Director of Public 

Health and consider issues arising from it. 
 

   
8. PRIMARY CARE TRUST UPDATE     
   
 To receive an update from the Trust on various issues.  
   
9. HEREFORD HOSPITALS NHS TRUST - UPDATE     
   
 To receive an update from the Trust on various issues. 

 
 

 

   



 
10. WEST MIDLANDS AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS TRUST - UPDATE     
   
 To receive an update from the Trust on various issues.  
   
11. DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL INVOLVEMENT NETWORK     
   
 To receive a progress report on the development of a Local Involvement 

Network. 
 

   
12. REVIEW OF ELDERLY FALLS     
   
 To discuss information relevant to the review.  
   
13. MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES - UPDATE   13 - 16  
   
 To note an update on developments within the mental health service.  
   
14. WORK PROGRAMME   17 - 20  
   
 To consider the Committee’s work programme.  
   
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 

•  Help in developing Council policy 
 

• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 
before and after decisions are taken 

 

• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 
by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 

 

• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 
Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 

• Review performance of the Council 
 

• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 

• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 

 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-

inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 

Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Health Scrutiny Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford on Thursday, 20th September, 2007 at 10.00 a.m. 
  

Present: Councillor JK Swinburne (Chairman) 
 

   
 Councillors: WU Attfield, PJ Edwards, MJ Fishley, P Jones CBE, 

MD Lloyd-Hayes, G Lucas, AP Taylor and PJ Watts 
 

  
In attendance: Councillors LO Barnett Cabinet Member (Social Care Adults and 

Health) and WLS Bowen 
  
  
15. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
  
 Apologies were recieved from Councillors SPA Daniels and AE Gray and from Mrs A 

Stoakes, Vice-Chairman of the Primary Care Trust Patient and Public Involvement 
Forum.  

  
16. NAMED SUBSTITUTES   
  
 Councillor PJ Edwards substituted for Councillor AE Gray and Councillor MD Lloyd-

Hayes for Councillor SPA Daniels. 
  
17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 The following declarations of interest were made: 

 
Name Item Interest Reason 

WU Attfield Agenda item 10: 
Changes in the 
Management of 
Mental Health 
Services 

Personal Trustee of a mental 
health charity 

WLS Bowen (general) Personal Non-Executive 
Director of Hereford 
Hospitals NHS 
Trust 

P Jones Agenda Item 6:  
West Midlands 
Ambulance 
service NHS 
Trust – 
Proposed 
Reconfiguration 
of Emergency 
Operations 
Centres in the 
West Midlands 

Personal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council appointee 
to the Hereford and 
Worcester Fire and 
Rescue Authority, 
Chairman of the 
West Midlands Fire 
Control Board and 
Director of the Fire 
Company. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

1



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE THURSDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2007 

 

 

MD Lloyd-Hayes Agenda item 6 Personal Council appointee 
to the Hereford and 
Worcester Fire and 
Rescue Authority 

PJ Watts Agenda item 6 Personal Council appointee 
to the Hereford and 
Worcester Fire and 
Rescue Authority  

  
18. MINUTES   
  
 

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 14th August, 2007 be 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

  
19. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE 

SCRUTINY   
  
 There were no suggestions from Members of the public. 
  
20. WEST MIDLANDS AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS TRUST - PROPOSED 

RECONFIGURATION OF EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTRES IN THE WEST 
MIDLANDS   

  
 The Committee considered a response to the West Midlands Ambulance Service 

NHS Trust’s (WMAS) proposed reconfiguration of emergency operations centres 
(EOCs). 
 
Copies of the WMAS consultation document had been previously circulated to 
Members of the Committee.  Documentation supplied by the Save Your Emergency 
Operations Centre campaign being run by staff based at the Hereford and Worcester 
Emergency Operations Centre at Bransford had also been circulated 
 
Mr M MacGregor Regional Head of Commissioning for WMAS and Mr D Laird, 
WMAS Locality Director for Herefordshire, Worcestershire and Shropshire attended 
the meeting to present the Trust’s proposals and answer questions. 
 
The presentation set out the background to the formation of the West Midlands 
Regional Ambulance Trust noting that it was the highest performing Regional Trust.  
It illustrated the current emergency operations centres (EOCs) and the lack of links 
between them, apart from between Shrewsbury and Brierley.  It was noted that if the 
EOC at Bransford failed the fallback was an office at Bromsgrove Ambulance Station 
which could accommodate 4 seats compared with 7 at Bransford.  It would take 
about half an hour to make this operational.  During that time no ambulances could 
be despatched in the locality area – none of the other EOCs could help.  It was 
added that local knowledge was not a factor taken into account when recruiting staff 
– no one could know every location in the locality. 
 
The reasons for change were outlined as follows:  there were five stand alone 
facilities; the fall back facilities were not fit for purpose; there was no ability to work 
together or spread calls.  The arrangements did not comply with the Civil 
Contingencies Act and there were a multitude of different, incompatible systems.  
The aim of the reconfiguration was to achieve better patient care with the use of 
more clinicians, faster call answering to get help to patients more quickly, enhanced 
career progression for EOC staff, improved resilience, ability to deal with a major 
incident, standardised technology and the retention of local knowledge, whilst noting 
that technology was adept at identifying the location of a caller. 

2



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE THURSDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2007 

 

 

 
The proposal was described as involving, two large centres mirroring one another at 
Tollgate, Stafford and Brierley Hill, with a third Centre at Leamington Spa which was 
currently the third busiest Centre with more resilience than the other remaining two 
Centres.  This would significantly increase the number of EOC seats from 62 to 110.  
It would pool resources, centralise functions and provide flexibility.  It was stated that 
concerns that ambulances would be sucked into Birmingham were ill-founded and 
not borne out by the experience of Coventry and Warwickshire, or Shropshire and 
the Black Country.  There was a safeguard in that the Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) 
would in any event demand that performance levels were maintained. 
 
Support arrangements for current EOC staff were outlined.  Whilst WMAS had said 
there would be no redundancies it was recognised that not all current staff at 
Bransford would want to relocate.  There were no plans to move ambulances.  The 
vast majority of knowledge was on the ground.  There would be staff at the new 
Centres dedicated to Hereford and Worcester calls. 
 
The summary was that: change was needed, there would be no job losses, most 
people did not know where their 999 call was answered, calls would be answered 
more quickly and ambulances would remain locally based, ambulances would 
continue to be despatched by Division, local knowledge would be maintained, the 
proposal was not driven by cost savings but by improvement to services.  Any 
savings would be reinvested locally.   
 
It was noted that whilst the WMAS Board would meet on 9 October as originally 
planned two alternative proposals had come forward which would also be presented 
at that meeting together with a report by an independent expert on the consultation.  
It was now intended that a final decision would be made by the Board on 28th 
November. 
 
In the ensuing discussion the following principal points were made: 
 

• Further clarification was sought on the extent of the role of the Regional Centres.  
In reply the ability of the Regional Centre to co-ordinate in the event of a major 
incident was emphasised.  Whilst the quality of the staff at Bransford were first 
class the facilities were not good enough. 

 

• Cross-border issues were raised with particular reference to Wales.  In reply it 
was stated that the WMAS bordered many areas.  The proposal would overcome 
internal boundaries that currently existed within the Region.   

 

• Further reassurance was sought that vehicles would not be directed from the 
rural areas to the City, noting that the rural areas might also require specialist 
vehicles.  The Locality Director emphasised that he would have to demonstrate 
to the PCT as commissioners that local performance targets were being met.  It 
was added that WMAS recognised the need for four wheel drive vehicles in rural 
areas.  It was noted that Herefordshire PCT was looking to build on the current 
funding of Emergency Care Practitioners. 

 

• The importance of local knowledge was discussed.  It was reiterated that whilst 
this could be helpful it was not a factor in recruiting staff and could not be relied 
upon.  There were protocols in place which stressed that staff must not rely on 
local knowledge but must get the caller to provide information to the operator.  It 
was reiterated that there would be dedicated staff for Herefordshire.  Members 
noted assurances regarding training of EOC staff but suggested there was a 
need for a localised training programme which also provided EOC staff with an 

3



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE THURSDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2007 

 

 

understanding of rural issues. 
 

• Mrs L Kabani a representative of staff at Bransford, who was present as a 
Member of the Public, was invited to speak.  She said that staff still thought that 
the proposal was detrimental to Herefordshire and South Worcestershire.  She 
questioned why costings of the proposal were not available and, as they were 
not, how it could be stated that the proposal was cost neutral.  She said there 
was no evidence that calls would be answered more quickly. She also referred to 
the appointment of 40 emergency care assistants to operate in the Birmingham 
Black Country area saying that this was to balance the loss of Hereford and 
Worcester resources in cross border assistance although the highest proportion 
of this assistance occurred in the Coventry and Warwickshire area.   

 
In reply WMAS said that costings would be presented on 9th October.  In relation 
to speed of call answering reference was made to the capacity under the 
proposal to answer more calls more quickly and so provide a better response.  
This was particularly the case when a major incident occurred. The role of the 
emergency care assistants was explained.   

 

• It was noted that the Board of Hereford Hospitals NHS Trust had not yet agreed 
its response to the consultation. 

 

• A further question was asked about the use of receipts from the disposal of 
Bransford.  WMAS replied that the intention as to improve the service and the 
proposal would provide a better service for Herefordshire.  It was again noted 
that WMAS would undoubtedly be challenged by the PCT if performance was 
unsatisfactory. 

 

• On behalf of the PCT it was stated that the PCT had invested in the EOC at 
Bransford and had set aside investment for the next two years to meet targets.  
The PCT would be keeping a close eye on how any receipts from Bransford were 
invested. 

 

• It was asked why there was not more investment into the Community First 
Responder Scheme (CFR).  The Locality Manager replied that the current 
strategy was to support CFRs in fund raising, setting up the schemes and 
administrative support. There was also training and other support.  He was 
prepared to look at funding recognising that CFRs were a very important part of 
the frontline service especially in a rural area such as Herefordshire. 

 

• Asked about the future arrangements for the non-emergency services such as 
the patient transport service the Locality Manager said that those vehicles would 
be relocated locally but no site had been decided upon. 

 

• Concern was expressed that the larger urban population might carry undue 
weight in the response to the consultation.  In reply it was stated that there had in 
fact been a larger response from rural areas.  It was added that performance in 
Herefordshire had improved since the formation of WMAS, the number of staff 
had reduced, mainly at management level, and there was a small surplus rather 
than an overspend.  The service was more efficient, releasing money for 
investment in services. 

 

• It was asked whether concentrating EOC resources as proposed might not 
increase vulnerability and whether there would accordingly be merit in 
maintaining the current centres.  In reply it was said that under the new national 
digital radio system the intention was that each region would have two control 

4



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE THURSDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2007 

 

 

rooms.  Any additional control rooms were referred to as spokes.  The view was 
that in addition to being very expensive the more spokes there were the less 
resilient the system. 

 
The Chairman summed up the key points and the Committee agreed that they 
should form the basis of the Committee’s response. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee’s response to the West Midlands Ambulance 
Service NHS Trust’s consultation on the reconfiguration of emergency 
operations Centres should be based on the following points: 
 
• support in principle for the reconfiguration of Emergency Operations 

Centres as proposed by the Trust, encouraged by the investment in 
compatible IT systems across the proposed 3 Centres. 

• recognition of the strategic rationale for the proposal, however, in order to 
fully support the changes proposed the Committee would require 
assurance: 

• that the service on the ground in Herefordshire would not be 
adversely affected and that data for the County will be collated 
separately and monitored; 

• that there would be no urban drift of services and that this is 
monitored and  evidenced by firm data; and  

• that in order to ensure that residents of Herefordshire continued to 
receive a high calibre service suitable training is provided to control 
room staff so that they had a good knowledge of the localities they 
served, including for example an understanding of the issues facing 
a rural area such as Herefordshire. 

• increased cross-border communication with neighbouring ambulance 
services to further improve effective service delivery. 

• reinvestment into the County of any resources realised through 
reorganisation.  Providing direct funding for equipment for Community First 
Responders would be a good place to start to seek to improve the provision 
of service to rural areas.   

  
21. REVIEW OF "ELDERLY FALLS"   
  
 The Committee considered a scoping statement for a review of “elderly falls” and the 

process for the review. 

RESOLVED:  That the scoping statement for the review of “Elderly Falls” as 
appended to the report, be approved, subject to simplification of 
some of the terminology. 

 
  
22. HEREFORD HOSPITALS NHS TRUST - FOUNDATION TRUST STATUS   
  
 The Committee received an update on Hereford Hospitals NHS Trust’s progress 

towards achieving Foundation Trust status. 
 
 

5



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE THURSDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2007 

 

 

It was noted that the Trust Board continued to believe that Foundation Trust Status 
was the best vehicle for maintaining and improving the quality of and access to 
secondary healthcare services for the people of Herefordshire.  The timescale for 
consideration of the Trust’s current application was subject to change because of the 
number of applications under consideration by the Department of Health. 
 

In response to questions about the prospects for this second application it was 
stated that the Trust’s financial position was stronger than when the first application 
had been made. 
 

RESOLVED:  That the position be noted and further updates provided. 
  
23. RECONFIGURATION OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES   
  
 The Committee was informed of plans to change two aspects of mental health 

services provided by the PCT. 
 

The first proposal related to “The Shires”, where the PCT was proposing to tender for 
a new provider of the service, which provided long term accommodation for younger 
people with enduring mental health issues.  The second related to a review of the 
mental health rehabilitation service. 

RESOLVED:  That the proposals be noted and the Primary Care Trust asked to 
provide further reports when the proposals were far enough 
advanced for the Committee to comment on them. 

  
24. CHANGES IN THE MANAGEMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES   
  
 The Committee considered plans to change the management of mental health 

services and the way in which community mental health teams worked. 
 
Mr Paul Ryan, Head of Commissioning at the Primary Care Trust presented the 
report.  He explained that while the changes were in some respects relatively minor 
they were significant for service users.  It was noted that a consultation exercise had 
been undertaken and it was proposed to report on the outcome to the Committee’s 
next meeting.  

RESOLVED: That the proposal be noted and Herefordshire Mental Health 
Services be asked to present the results of the consultation for 
discussion by the Committee at its next meeting. 

 
  
25. DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL INVOLVEMENT NETWORK   
  
 The Committee received a progress report on the development of a Local 

Involvement Network (LINk). 
 
The Procurement Officer presented the report.  It was noted that the amount of 
money to be allocated by the Government to run the LINks had not yet been 
announced which meant that tenders could not be invited from potential hosts for the 
LINk.  There was also a general lack of clarity about the operation of the LINks. 
 
It was proposed that the Minister should be informed of the Committee’s concerns 
and clarification sought. 
 
The Chairman of the Primary Care Trust Patient and Public Involvement Forum 
criticised the Council’s approach to the development of the LINk.  He said that the 

6



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE THURSDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2007 

 

 

PPIF had not been involved and consulted on its development despite its offer to 
assist in the process.  
 
In reply the Chairman expressed regret at the PPIF’s concern and said that it had 
always been intended that once the detail was known the Council would discuss the 
development with the PPIF.  The Director of Adult and Community Services added 
that officers would be happy to meet to discuss the PPIF’s concerns and draw on its 
assistance but had to be careful also to maintain the independence of the 
procurement process. 

RESOLVED:  That clarification be sought from the Minister on the plans for the 
development of the Local Involvement Networks. 

  
26. WORK PROGRAMME   
  
 The Committee considered its work programme. 

RESOLVED:  That the work programme as appended to the report be approved 
and reported to the Strategic Monitoring Committee. 

 

 

 

 

 
  
The meeting ended at 12.30 p.m. CHAIRMAN 
 

7



8



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 6TH DECEMBER, 2007 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  

Philip Wilson, Emergency Planning Manager on 01432 260567 

 

 
20071122EPUpdateHealthScrutinyDec070.doc  

 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE 
COUNCIL AND THE HEALTH PROTECTION AGENCY 

Report By: Emergency Planning Manager 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To provide an update on the preparation of a memorandum of understanding 
between the Council and the Health Protection Agency.  

 Financial implications 

2. None identified. 

Background 

3. In March 2007 the Committee received an update on emergency planning 
arrangements following on from the Committee’s Review of the response to the 2003 
outbreak of Legionnaires disease in Hereford. 

4. It was reported that since the Committee’s Review, the national profile of infectious 
diseases had been raised by the possible threat that avian influenza might pass from 
birds to humans and then mutate into a human-to-human disease of pandemic 
proportions. Whilst the emergency planning focus on health had been on the 
pandemic influenza threat, the lessons learned from the Legionnaires outbreak in 
Hereford had helped to inform planning and training. Specifically: 

a. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 had considerably enhanced the sharing of 
information and the co-operation between Category 1 responders  (local 
authorities, police forces and British Transport Police, fire and rescue authorities, 
ambulance services, National Health Service, Health Protection Agency, port 
health authorities, Environment Agency, Maritime and Coastguard Agency) 
through the West Mercia Local Resilience Forum (LRF). More locally, this was 
facilitated through membership of the Herefordshire Emergency Response to 
Major Incident Team (HERMIT) and there was a Primary Care Trust (PCT) led 
Herefordshire Pandemic Influenza Planning Committee, supported by emergency 
planning and social care representatives from the Council. 

b. The lead and roles of agencies involved in the identification of trigger points and 
the management of an infectious disease outbreak were more clearly defined.  

c. Multi-agency emergency plans had been revisited and updated. Whilst the 
current local risk assessment, published in the West Mercia LRF Community Risk 
Register, does not require there to be a specific emergency response plan for 
legionnaires disease, the health authorities have published pandemic influenza 
specific response plans for multi-agency use. 

AGENDA ITEM 6

9



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 6TH DECEMBER, 2007 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  

Philip Wilson, Emergency Planning Manager on 01432 260567 

 

 
20071122EPUpdateHealthScrutinyDec070.doc  

d. There had been a series of exercises to test and evaluate the emergency 
response arrangements for dealing with pandemic influenza at the local, regional 
and national level, in which Herefordshire Council participated throughout. The 
latest of these, Exercise Flute, sponsored by Herefordshire PCT, takes place on 
30th November 

5. However, in relation to point (b) above it was noted that a draft Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU), between the Council and the Health Protection Agency 
(HPA), dealing with the protocols for infectious diseases had not yet progressed 
beyond draft status. The Committee was informed that this not been progressed by 
the Agency because of national work on a new MoU taking account of changes to 
PCTs and Strategic Health Authorities.  Whilst the absence of the local MoU had not 
hindered the Council’s ability to work with the HPA the Emergency Planning Officer 
considered that it would be worthwhile to put it in place. 
 

6. The Committee agreed that an update on the preparation of a Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Council and the Health Protection Agency dealing with 
the protocols for tackling infectious diseases be made in six months time. 

 Progress 

7. The current position is that progress on the national generic HPA/LA MoU has been 
slow, but is still in process. Health Protection Units and Local Authorities agreed that 
its development remained a priority in 2005-2006 and since the last report in March 
2007 the HPA has produced the requested HPA/Herefordshire Council MoU The 
MoU builds upon pre-existing working arrangements between the two organisations 
and the longer history of joint work between the Council and the former Herefordshire 
and Worcestershire Health Protection Unit.  As such it codifies joint response 
arrangements that are already in practice.  

8. The MoU contains, in a series of annexes and appendices, a set of specific actions in 
relation to certain health protection threats.  It is not possible to include all guidelines 
and Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) that are held in response to a wide 
range of threats, such as Pandemic Influenza or Legionnaires, or the joint response 
to extreme weather conditions.  However specific guidance and responses are 
immediately accessible via databases held by the HPA and other organisations and 
would be made available to the local multi agency incident response teams. 

9. The MoU is currently awaiting formal ratification between the Head of Environmental 
Health Services and the Director of West Midlands West Health Protection Unit.  It 
has been circulated separately to Members of the Committee, as an unsigned 
document, for information, and is available to the public on request. However, it will 
need ongoing review during the next 12 months in response to: 

a. The eventual publication of the national generic HPA/LA MoU. 

b. Local organisational changes within Herefordshire Council and Herefordshire 
Primary Care Trust. 

10. In September Herefordshire Council, Herefordshire PCT and Hereford Hospitals 
Trust (HHT) agreed that the emergency planning functions would be brought together 
under the umbrella of the Council’s Emergency Planning Unit. To this end, an 
additional Emergency Planning Officer (Health), funded by the PCT and HHT, has 
been appointed and will start work in January 2008. This appointment will further 
enhance the already close working relationships and co-ordination of emergency 

10



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 6TH DECEMBER, 2007 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  

Philip Wilson, Emergency Planning Manager on 01432 260567 

 

 
20071122EPUpdateHealthScrutinyDec070.doc  

planning between the Council, PCT and HHT forged through the fora of the West 
Mercia LRF and HERMIT since 2004. 

11. The Committee, in March, also requested that consideration be given to offering 
Members the opportunity to observe future emergency planning exercises. An 
emergency planning seminar for Members is being programmed to take place in the 
New Year, following which invitations to Members to observe future emergency 
planning exercises will be made. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 That the Committee notes the development of the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Council and the Health Protection Agency  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• HPA/Herefordshire Council MoU (unsigned) 

11



12



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

1

CONTENTS

  Page No.

Introduction  3 

Chapter 1: General health of the population 5 
1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5
1.6

Summary
Introduction
Life Expectancy 
Demography
Mortality
Recommendations  

5
5
6
7
7
17

Chapter 2: Choosing Health Priorities 19 
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7

Summary
Sexual Health 
Smoking
Sensible Drinking 
Obesity
Social Deprivation 
Recommendations 

19
19
21
24
32
38
43

Chapter 3: Falls 45 
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6

Summary
The Pattern of Falls in Herefordshire 
Falls in Young People aged 0-14 years 
Falls and Hip Fractures in Older People 
Falls Prevention in Older People 
Recommendations 

45
45
46
48
50
51

Chapter 4: Climate Change and Health 53 
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5

4.6

Summary
Background to Climate Change 
The Impact of Climate Change on Health 
Sustainable Development 
Herefordshire Declaration on Climate 
Change
Recommendations 

53
53
54
57
59

60

AGENDA ITEM 7

13



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

2

Chapter 5: Health Protection 61
5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5
5.6
5.7
5.8

Summary
Cervical Screening 
Breast Screening 
Newborn Hearing Screening Programme 
Immunisation
Pandemic Flu 
Emergency Planning 
Recommendations 

61
61
62
63
63
64
65
66

Chapter 6: Last year’s recommendations 67

Chapter 7: Summary of this year’s recommendations 69

Statistical Appendix 71

14



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

3

INTRODUCTION

Once again, the first key message of this report is that people in Herefordshire 
enjoy above average health: people live longer here than they do elsewhere in the 
country.  However, there is some evidence that increased risk-taking behaviour 
means that, in the future, health will not be so good.  The gap between our 
mortality rates and those elsewhere is narrowing, and smoking rates, alcohol 
abuse and obesity levels are all of concern here.  There are particularly worrying 
signs that our young people may be developing lifestyles which are associated 
with poor health outcome, and smoking, alcohol abuse and obesity are most 
relevant in this context. 

In Herefordshire, as elsewhere, there are links between high social deprivation 
and poor health outcome.  This is a challenge for services, especially in a rural 
county where social deprivation is not restricted to only one geographical area but 
is widely dispersed.  Nonetheless, the concentration in South Wye and parts of 
Leominster is such that the PCT and partners should be moving towards targeting 
resources in those areas, particularly in terms of their early intervention and 
preventive efforts. 

The demographic challenges of an ageing population remain, but a new theme is 
the lack of knowledge about our immigrant community.  Anecdotally, numbers 
have risen, and many are finding work in the agricultural sector.  However, in 
Herefordshire, as elsewhere in the country, there are no reliable, current and 
comprehensive figures as to actual numbers and this is a significant knowledge 
gap for those working to plan and deliver public services. 

This has been a year of significant development for the Public Health Department, 
and we have strengthened the team to meet the demands of the Choosing Health 
agenda.  We have welcomed new staff to the team and, in particular, the health 
improvement team has been built.  We have moved the health promotion resource 
function into a new site at the Asda/Kindle premises in South Wye, improving our 
service, and locating it in the South Wye area to improve access for the more 
deprived communities.  We still have not recruited to the Director of Public Health 
post, but I have been pleased to continue to act up to this role. 

In 2007, the Council and PCT have worked together to develop a Public Service 
Trust, in which public health will be a key element. This will create exciting 
opportunities for public health staff to work more closely with Council colleagues 
and to bring public health messages to influence service planning and delivery 
across the county.  A Chief Executive designate of the PST has been appointed 
and we can look forward with confidence to strengthening the public health voice 
and improving health outcomes as a consequence of the PST developments. 

I would like to place on record my thanks to the Public Health Department and the 
PCT Board for their support as I have continued to lead the Department.  Specific 
thanks are due to Caron Cooke, Maggie Colwell, Lillian Somervaille, Kathryn Millard 

15



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

4

and Peter Stebbings for their contribution to this report, and particular note should 
be made of Lillian Somervaille’s work on the chapters on Falls and Climate 
Change, Peter Stebbings’ on Alcohol and the Statistical Appendix, and Terri Hill’s in 
typing the report.  As ever, though, the overall responsibility for the report is mine 
and any comments or requests for further copies should be made to me at: 

Herefordshire Primary Care Trust 
Vaughan Building 
Ruckhall Lane 
Belmont  
Hereford
HR2 9RP 
Tel:  01432 344344 

The report is also available online at www.herefordshire.nhs.uk.

Dr Frances Howie October 2007 
Associate Director of Health Improvement 

16



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

5

CHAPTER 1 
GENERAL HEALTH OF THE POPULATION 

1.1 SUMMARY

 In general terms, as in previous years, health in Herefordshire is good.  
People here live longer than they do elsewhere in the country, and babies 
are less likely to die in the first year of life.  However, the gap between 
life expectancy in Herefordshire and that elsewhere is narrowing.  There 
are some causes of death where local rates are slightly above the 
national rates, but numbers are small and subject to year-on-year 
variation.  However, the female death rate from stroke, the male death 
rate from accidents, and the death rates from some skin cancers remain 
persistently above what might be expected and should be carefully 
monitored.  With regard to children, there was a small increase in 
numbers of deaths in the first year of life in 2005, and also numbers of 
babies born with low birth weight.  The rates remain below average but a 
gradual increase in infant mortality is observable using three-year pooled 
data.  Child dental health is poor, and this has been the case for some 
years.

1.2 INTRODUCTION

1.2.1 Detailed figures on mortality and morbidity are set out in the Statistical 
Appendix.  In previous years, Herefordshire’s generally good health 
profile has been demonstrated by comparisons with England and Wales 
as a whole, and with the West Midlands region.  This year, another 
comparison has been added: a comparator group of local authorities, 
selected on the basis of having “extremely similar” socio-economic 
profiles to Herefordshire.  More details of this methodology are given in 
the Statistical Appendix.  The four most similar authorities are Mid Devon, 
North Shropshire, Mendip and Kings Lynn & West Norfolk, for which a 
comparative average figure was calculated where possible and included 
in the tables in the Statistical Appendix. 

 Herefordshire generally performs well even in comparison with these 
authorities, showing that above average health outcomes exist here even 
if socio-economic factors are taken into account. 

1.2.2 The data relating to general health measures are given in the Statistical 
Appendix and show 95% confidence intervals.  These give the range of 
values within which the true value is likely to lie - the wider the 
confidence interval, the less precise the estimate.  If the confidence 
intervals do not overlap when comparing two values, then there is a 
statistically significant difference.  If they do overlap, the differences are 

17



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

6

unlikely to be statistically significant and are likely to be of limited 
consequence.  Confidence intervals are particularly wide when values are 
small.

1.3 LIFE EXPECTANCY

1.3.1 People in Herefordshire have an above average life expectancy.  The 
national target is to increase life expectancy to 78.6 years for men and 
82.5 years for women by 2010.  In Herefordshire, based on 2003-2005 
data, life expectancy for males at birth is 77.6 years, and for females is 
82.4 years. 

1.3.2 Although life expectancy in Herefordshire has been persistently higher 
than it is in England or the West Midlands since 1991/1993, the gap 
between Herefordshire and the others is narrowing.  In women, the trend 
of increasing life expectancy has changed and since 2001 a levelling-off 
and minor decrease is observable. 

Table 1: Life expectancy for males 

18



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

7

Table 2: Life expectancy for females 

1.4 DEMOGRAPHY

1.4.1 Population numbers grew more quickly in Herefordshire than in England 
or in the West Midlands as a whole over the final twenty years of the last 
century; however the latest population estimates released in August 2007 
indicate a slowing of the local population growth rate thus far this 
century:

Table 3:  Population Change 1981-2005 (5 year bands) 

 1981-
1985

1986-
1990

1991-
1995

1996-
2000

2001-
2005

England 0.5 1.1 1.1 1.5 2.1
West Midlands -0.1 0.7 0.5 0.1 1.3 
Herefordshire 2.4 3.8 3.3 4.0 1.4 

 Source:  ONS Mid-Year Estimates 

1.4.2 The total county population estimate at mid 2006 is now 177,816 
compared with a census population in 2001 of 174,862; an increase of 
1.7%.

1.4.3 As noted in previous reports, the elderly population in Herefordshire is 
increasing more quickly than it is in England and Wales, and the 25-34 
year age group is falling more rapidly (see Chart 2 of the Statistical 
Appendix).  The birth rate too is lower than elsewhere.  In 2005, the 
fertility rate here was 52.8 live births per 1,000 women aged 15-44 
years, compared with 58.4 in England and Wales, and 60.7 in the West 
Midlands.

19



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

8

1.5 MORTALITY

1.5.1 Age standardised death rates are shown in the Statistical Appendix 
(Table 6).  The Herefordshire rate is 576.27 (per 100,000 population), 
compared with 660.30 in the West Midlands, and 635.70 in England and 
Wales.

1.5.2 Children’s death rates are shown in the Statistical Appendix (Tables 11-
13).  In 2005, the number of deaths in childhood increased.  However, 
the number has reduced in 2006.  The numbers remain small and year-
on-year variation is to be expected. 

Table 4: Childhood Mortality Numbers: 5-14 years 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 

3 4 5 6 3
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 Infant mortality may be rising but again numbers are small.  The most 
recent 2006 data is available for Herefordshire but is not yet available for 
comparator PCTs or national comparisons.  The actual numbers are 
shown below: 

Table 5: Infant mortality: 0-12 months 

Year
Age 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Total 

<7 days 3 1 3 7 3 17
<28 days 0 0 1 1 2 4 
<1 year 3 3 5 4 2 17 
Total 6 4 9 12 7 38 

 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 Analysis of the pooled data, using three year periods, shows a rise: 

Table 6: Pooled infant mortality: 0-12 months 

Year
Age 2002-2004 2003-2005 2004-2006 

<7 days 7 11 13
<28 days 8 13 17 
<1 year 19 25 28 
Infant mortality rate per 
1,000 live births 

3.9 5.0 5.5 

 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

20



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

9

 The number of stillbirths plus deaths under 7 days has also risen:  from 
27 in 2002-2004 to 28 in 2003-2005 to 36 in 2004-2006.  The perinatal 
mortality rate has therefore risen from 5.5 in 2002-2004, to 5.6 in 2003-
2005, to 7.1 in 2004-2006. Although the rate is still low, (compared with 
a 2003-2005 national rate of 8.2), this increase should be carefully 
monitored.

1.5.3 Age standardised death rates for selected causes of death are shown in 
the Statistical Appendix (Table 7). These focus on the monitoring data 
for national targets.  Herefordshire rates are significantly below national 
and regional averages for circulatory disease and malignant neoplasms, 
but may be slightly above average for suicide although confidence limits 
are wide, and are significantly above average for accidents among males 
compared to England. 

1.5.4 More detailed standardised mortality ratios based on 2003-2005 pooled 
data in the Statistical Appendix (Table 9) show that SMRs are above 
average in three key areas: stroke, all accidents and land transport 
accidents.

1.5.5 Stroke has been highlighted in previous years.  The female SMR for 
2003-2005 is 133 in Herefordshire, with confidence intervals of 122-144; 
for males, the SMR is 115 with confidence intervals of 102-128. 

1.5.6 Accidents again have been a persistently high rate.  2003-2005 data 
shows a male SMR of 133 with confidence intervals of 106-164.  The 
male SMR for land transport accidents is 163, though with very wide 
confidence intervals (114-277). 

1.5.7 Herefordshire’s directly standardised mortality rates fall into the lowest 
10% of all West Midlands PCTs for the following causes of death: 
coronary heart disease, stroke, cardiovascular disease, accidental falls 
and cancers. 

21



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

10

Table 7: 

 Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

Table 8:

Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

Table 9: 

Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

22



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

11

Table 10: 

Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

Table 11: 

 Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

Table 12: 

 Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

23



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

12

1.5.8 Cancer Incidence and Mortality

 Incidence rates for cancers are generally very low in Herefordshire too.  
Herefordshire has a significantly lower incidence of all malignant cancers 
for men than the West Midlands region; and of lung cancer among both 
men and women.  It may be significantly lower than regional incidence 
rates in prostate cancer. (Source: Key Health data) 

1.5.9 There are some instances where there is a statistically low incidence of 
cancer, but mortality rates are no better than average, and these should 
be monitored.  These are: lung cancer among women; male prostate 
cancer; and upper GI cancers in men.  Average mortality rates in these 
areas of low or very low incidence suggest there may be a worse 
prognosis locally for these patients than might be expected.  There may, 
however, be other causes such as data incompleteness, and so these 
figures should be treated with caution.

Table 13: Incidence of lung cancer in women (2003-2005) 

 Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

24



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

13

Table 14: Mortality from lung cancer in women (2003-2005) 

 Source:  West Midlands Key Health Data 2006/2007 

Table 15: Incidence of prostate cancer (2003-2005) 

1

5

9

12

16

2

3

4

6

7

8

10

11

13

14

15

17

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000 300,000 350,000 400,000 450,000

Adjusted Population (per year)

D
ir

e
c
tl

y
 A

g
e
 S

ta
n

d
a
rd

is
e
d

 R
a
te

 (
p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
)

Cancer Network Key

  =  Pan Birmingham

  =  Greater Midlands

 = Arden 

=  Three Counties

Key

1.  Birmingham East & North

2.  Coventry Teaching

3.  Dudley

4.  Heart of Birmingham Teaching

5.  Herefordshire

6.  North Staffordshire

7.  Sandwell

8.  Shropshire County

9.  Solihull

10. South Birmingham

11. South Staffordshire+

12. Stoke on Trent

13. Telford & Wrekin

14. Walsall Teaching*

15. Warwickshire

16. Wolverhampton City

17. Worcestershire°

+
 South Staffordshire PCT includes the former East Staffordshire PCT, part of the Derby-Burton cancer network

* Walsall Teaching PCT has been allocated to Greater Midlands Cancer Network however due to patient flows it may also 
be included in Pan Birmingham Cancer Network  
o
 Worcestershire PCT includes the former Redditch & Bromsgrove, South Worcestershire and Wyre Forest PCTs of Arden, 

3 Counties and Greater Midlands Cancer Network respectively

Source: West Midlands Cancer Intelligence Unit 

25



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

14

Table 16: Mortality from prostate cancer (2003-2005) 

1

5

9
12
14

2 34 6

7
8

10

1113

15

16
17

0

10

20

30

40

50

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000 300,000 350,000 400,000 450,000

Adjusted Population (per year)

D
ir

e
c
tl

y
 A

g
e
 S

ta
n

d
a
rd

is
e
d

 R
a
te

 (
p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
)

Cancer Network Key

  =  Pan Birmingham

  =  Greater Midlands

 =  Arden 

=  Three Counties

Key

1.  Birmingham East & North

2.  Coventry Teaching

3.  Dudley

4.  Heart of Birmingham Teaching

5.  Herefordshire

6.  North Staffordshire

7.  Sandwell

8.  Shropshire County

9.  Solihull

10. South Birmingham

11. South Staffordshire+

12. Stoke on Trent

13. Telford & Wrekin

14. Walsall Teaching*

15. Warwickshire

16. Wolverhampton City

17. Worcestershire°

+
 South Staffordshire PCT includes the former East Staffordshire PCT, part of the Derby-Burton cancer network 

* Walsall Teaching PCT has been allocated to Greater Midlands Cancer Network however due to patient flows it may also 
be included in Pan Birmingham Cancer Network  
o Worcestershire PCT includes the former Redditch & Bromsgrove, South Worcestershire and Wyre Forest PCTs of Arden, 3 
Counties and Greater Midlands Cancer Network respectively 

Source: West Midlands Cancer Intelligence Unit

Table 17: Incidence of upper GI cancers in men (2002-2004) 

1
8

11

13

18

20

22

23

24

26

27

29
2

3

4

5

6
7

9

10

12

14

15

16
17

19

21
25

28

30

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000

Adjusted Population (per year)

D
ir

e
c
tl

y
 A

g
e
 S

ta
n

d
a
rd

is
e

d
 R

a
te

 (
p

e
r 

1
0
0

,0
0
0
)

Cancer Network Key

 = Pan Birmingham

 = Greater Midlands

 = Arden 

= Three Counties

x  = Derby-Burton 

PCT Key

1. Burntwood, Lichfield & Tamworth

2. Cannock Chase

3. Coventry

4. Dudley Beacon & Castle

5. Dudley South

6. East Staffordshire

7. Eastern Birmingham

8. Heart of Birmingham

9. Herefordshire

10. Newcastle-Under-Lyme

11. North Birmingham

12. North Stoke

13. North Warwickshire

14. Oldbury & Smethwick

15. Redditch & Bromsgrove

16. Rowley Regis & Tipton

17. Rugby

18. Shropshire County

19. Solihull

20. South Birmingham

21. South Stoke

22. South Warwickshire

23. South Western Staffordshire

24. South Worcestershire

25. Staffordshire Moorlands

26. Telford & Wrekin

27. Walsall *
28. Wednesbury & West Bromwich

29. Wolverhampton City

30. Wyre Forest

* Walsall PCT has been allocated to Greater Midlands Cancer Network however due to patient flows it may also be included 
in Pan Birmingham Cancer Network 

Source:  West Midlands Cancer Intelligence Unit 

26



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

15

Table 18: Mortality from upper GI cancers in men (2002-2004) 

1

8

11

1315

18

20

22
24

272

3

4

5

6
7

9

10

12

14

16

17
19

21
23

25

26
28

29

30

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000

Adjusted Population (per year)

D
ir

e
c

tl
y
 A

g
e

 S
ta

n
d

a
rd

is
e

d
 R

a
te

 (
p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

)

Cancer Network Key

 = Pan Birmingham

 = Greater Midlands

 = Arden 

= Three Counties

x  = Derby-Burton 

PCT Key

1. Burntwood, Lichfield & Tamworth

2. Cannock Chase

3. Coventry

4. Dudley Beacon & Castle

5. Dudley South

6. East Staffordshire

7. Eastern Birmingham

8. Heart of Birmingham

9. Herefordshire

10. Newcastle-Under-Lyme

11. North Birmingham

12. North Stoke

13. North Warwickshire

14. Oldbury & Smethwick

15. Redditch & Bromsgrove

16. Rowley Regis & Tipton

17. Rugby

18. Shropshire County

19. Solihull

20. South Birmingham

21. South Stoke

22. South Warwickshire

23. South Western Staffordshire

24. South Worcestershire

25. Staffordshire Moorlands

26. Telford & Wrekin

27. Walsall *
28. Wednesbury & West Bromwich

29. Wolverhampton City

30. Wyre Forest

* Walsall PCT has been allocated to Greater Midlands Cancer Network however due to patient flows it may also be included 
in Pan Birmingham Cancer Network

Source:  West Midlands Cancer Intelligence Unit 

1.5.10 Mortality and social deprivation

 Figures showing local links between higher social deprivation and 
increased mortality rates are given in Chapter 2 below, in the section on 
social deprivation at paragraph 2.6. 

1.5.11 Hospital admissions

 There has been a significant rise in unscheduled admissions data. 

Table 19: Numbers of unscheduled hospital admissions: Herefordshire, 
2002-2006

2002 10,766 

2003 10,872 

2004 10,734 

2005 12,414 

2006 13,252 

% change 23.1 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 This is slightly above the national increase in unscheduled admissions of 
19.8%.

27



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

16

 Emergency admissions accounted for 31.3% of all admissions in 
Herefordshire in 2005-2006, compared with 36.7% nationally. 

Table 20: Numbers of hospital admissions in Herefordshire, 2002-2006

All English PCTs Herefordshire PCT 

2002/2003 11.41m 35,778 

2003/2004 11.70m 37,817 

2004/2005 12.10m 36,408 

2005/2006 12.68m 40,473 

% change 11.1 13.1 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

1.5.12 Numbers of deaths

 Numbers of deaths from selected causes are shown in the Statistical 
Appendix (Table 8).  It should be noted that the number of deaths from 
breast cancer increased in 2005, and will be monitored. 

 Although actual numbers of female deaths from stroke are falling, the 
mortality rate still remains above the average. 

1.5.13 Years of life lost

 Mortality data also allows an analysis of years of life lost up to the age of 
75 years.  This gives more weight to causes of premature death, such as 
suicide and accidents.  Table 10 of the Statistical Appendix shows that 
cancers account for 36% of all years of life lost, circulatory diseases for 
24%, and coronary heart disease for 13%.  Although the actual numbers 
of deaths due to suicide, all accidents and land transport accidents are 
low such events account, respectively, for 7%, 11% and 7% of all years 
of life lost. 

1.5.14 Dental health

 Previous public health reports have drawn attention to the poor dental 
health of the Herefordshire population.  The mean number of decayed, 
missing or filled teeth in 5-year olds in 2005/2006 was 1.78 in 
Herefordshire, compared with 1.02 in the West Midlands and 1.51 in 
England and Wales. 

 As a result of recommendations in previous reports, the PCT has asked 
the Strategic Health Authority to commission a feasibility study into 
fluoridation of the water supply in Herefordshire.  There is clear evidence 
that this would bring about a significant improvement in the county’s 
dental health.  The results of the feasibility study will be produced by the 
end of 2007, and a decision will be taken by the Strategic Health 
Authority as to whether or not to continue to explore the possibility.  A 

28



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

17

very clear statutory process is set out for considering fluoridation, 
including full public consultation. 

 In 2007/2008 the PCT has identified additional investment for dental 
public health, and consultant and nurse public dental health time will be 
made available to develop preventive work, aimed in the first instance at 
children and young people. 

 The PCT has continued to invest in improved dental access.  There are 
now seven dental access centres, plus a mobile unit, and the number of 
WTE equivalent dentists working in these has increased from eleven to 
fifteen during 2007/2008.  Additional capacity has recently been 
developed in South Wye, which has taken 4,000 patients directly from 
the central waiting list.  The orthodontic waiting list has been 
unacceptably high, and the PCT has recently commissioned additional 
capacity to reduce this.  Within the Dental Access Centres, all children are 
given priority and looked after children have the highest priority of all. 

1.6 RECOMMENDATIONS

To continue to highlight the above average mortality rates due to 
stroke; all accidents; and land transport accidents, and to work with 
partners to address these. 
To work with partners to improve the poor dental health of children. 

29



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

18

30



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

19

CHAPTER 2 
CHOOSING HEALTH PRIORITIES

2.1 SUMMARY

 This chapter considers four key areas in which risk-taking behaviour is 
likely to produce poor health outcomes: sexual health; smoking; drinking 
alcohol; and obesity.  In general, people in Herefordshire take slightly 
fewer risks in these areas than do people elsewhere in the West 
Midlands.  However, a significant number of people here do take risks, 
and the levels of risk-taking are far higher in some social groups than in 
others, with age, gender, and social deprivation all being key variables.  
Major challenges lie ahead in tackling worrying patterns of behaviour, 
particularly with regard to obesity and alcohol abuse. 

2.2 SEXUAL HEALTH

2.2.1 The national targets are: 

By 2008, everyone referred to a Genito-Urinary Medicine (GUM) 
Clinic should be able to have an appointment in 48 hours. 

A national chlamydia screening programme should be in place by 
2007, and there should be an increase in the percentage of people 
aged 15-24 accepting screening by 2007. 
Reduce teenage conception by 50% from 1998 by 2010, and by 
10% by 2004. 

2.2.2 During 2007, significant investment has been made in the sexual health 
services in Herefordshire, using the “Choosing Health” budget.  Two new 
satellite clinics have been opened in the market towns, one at Ross-on-
Wye and one at Leominster.  New administrative systems have been 
introduced in Gaol Street, where the main GUM service is based, and 
these include working towards a paperless system, and maximising the 
use of text messaging.  Waiting times have, as a consequence, fallen 
significantly.

2.2.3  After considerable delays, a chlamydia screening programme has been 
introduced, making full use of school nurses and pharmacies.  In previous 
reports, I drew attention to the fact that chlamydia screening in 
Herefordshire still uses the enzyme-linked immune sorbet assay (ELISA) 
method of testing, which has a significantly reduced specificity compared 
with the nucleic acid amplification test (NAAT).  The NAAT system has 
still not been introduced.  However, tests from the target screening 
population are being sent out of county as we work towards the 2007 
target in a staged way.  The local hospital still analyses a proportion of 

31



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

20

tests and this remains a matter of concern.  It is expected that NAAT will 
be available locally in 2008.

2.2.4 The teenage conception rate remains an important public health target.  
However, Herefordshire is unlikely to halve the 1998 rate by 2010.  It 
was particularly low at that time, and was one of the lowest in the West 
Midlands. The actual reduction in the rate between 1998 and 2005 was 
15.6%.

Table 21: Under 18 conception rates by West Midlands local authority 

 Source:  Teenage Pregnancy Unit 

 The pooled data for 2003-2005 shows a teenage pregnancy rate (per 
1000 women aged 15-17 years) of 32.9.  This remains below the national 
(41.8) and regional (45.8) rates, and has dropped from the 2000-2002 
rate of 36.9.  The average annual numbers of conceptions in 2000-2002 
were 115, compared with 110 in 2003-2005.

2.2.5 A particularly successful initiative, “Young Mums to Be”, provides a multi-
agency approach to supporting young mothers and has been successful 
in engaging young fathers too.  This has received national recognition, 
and the Learning and Skills council are now taking steps to mainstream 
the provision. 

2.2.6 A number of specific initiatives to improve the sexual health of young 
people have developed this year.  The hours of drop-in clinic services for 
young people have increased, and the number of 4Us clinics has 
increased from four to six.  These are based in schools, and are located 
in areas which have been hot spots in the past.  A virtual tour of the Gaol 

32



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

21

Street Clinic is now available via the award winning Sexfaqs website, 
which continues to be a source of information and opportunity to ask 
questions anonymously via the internet, and attracts a high number of 
hits.  In 2006/2007, there were 163,617 hits. 

2.3 SMOKING

2.3.1 The national targets are: 

To reduce smoking among young adults (16+ years) from 26% in 
2002 to 21% or less by 2010. 
To reduce smoking in routine and manual groups from 31% in 2002 
to 26% or less by 2010. 
Reduce smoking among children aged 11-15 years from 13% to 9% 
or less by 2010. 
Reduce the percentage of women who smoke during pregnancy 
from 23% to 15% by 2010. 

2.3.2 Locally, the Department of Health has set a 2007/2008 target of helping 
1,200 smokers to quit successfully at the 4-week stage.  In 2006/2007, 
the target was 1,100, and this was narrowly exceeded, with 1,110 
quitting.  

2.3.3 The data available to measure the percentage of smokers varies in terms 
of reliability.  The adult and child rates are only known through survey 
data.  However, the percentage of pregnant women who smoke is 
collected and recorded reliably on an individual basis. 

 The most recent Adult Regional Lifestyles Survey showed that 21% of the 
adult population in Herefordshire smoked in 2005 (West Midlands 
Regional Observatory, “Regional Lifestyles Survey 2005”).  Prevalence is 
higher among men (25%), than it is among women (19%).  However, 
this is likely to be an under-estimate, given the low response rate for the 
survey as a whole, and the fact that it is a self-completion questionnaire.  
The survey also shows the highest smoking rate in Herefordshire is 
among 35-44 year olds (29%) and that this is significantly higher than 
the regional average for the age band (22%). 

33



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

22

Table 22: Prevalence of smoking by age band 

 Source:  Herefordshire Council RLS Report 

 In Autumn 2006, a Teenage Lifestyles Survey was carried out, involving 
3853 young people (Years 7, 8, 9 and 10; aged 11-15 years) in 16 of our 
secondary schools.  This showed that 7% of respondents had smoked at 
least one cigarette in the last seven days, and that 8% say they smoke 
regularly or occasionally.  However, some rates are far higher.  10% of 
15-year old boys said they smoked, and 25% of 15-year old girls did.  
44% of the sample said that there is at least one person who smokes 
regularly at home. 

 The percentage of women who smoke while pregnant varies from year to 
year. Although the rate for the last two financial years has been static at 
17%, it is near to the 15% target required by 2010 in the Smoking Kills 
(1998) White Paper. 

 One feature of the local service is that the Stop Smoking midwife 
specialist focuses her work on women from lower income groups and 
hard to reach groups.  She not only works with pregnant women, but 
also with partners and close family members, knowing that this will 
improve the mothers’ chances of quitting successfully, as well as 
protecting the babies’ health. This will also help reduce the risks of 
second hand smoke to other children in the home. During 2006 – 2007 
there were 154 pregnant women referred to the specialist midwife, 121 
of these setting quit dates and 34 quit at 4 weeks (28%). Although this 
midwife promotes total quitting rather than reducing cigarette 
consumption, she also supports women who are able to reduce to 1-2 
cigarettes daily and have vastly reduced carbon monoxide readings but 
are not recorded in quit rates. This will reduce the adverse effects of 
smoking on the pregnancy. Of the non-pregnant people that the midwife 
saw, 119 set quit dates and 61 were quit at 4 weeks (51%). The majority 
of these interventions take place in the woman’s home, on a weekly 
basis, with additional phone support. Nicotine Replacement Therapy is 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

1 8 -3 4 3 5 -4 4 4 5 -5 4 5 5 -6 4 6 5 +

A g e  b a n d

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

d
e
n

ts Here fords h ire

W es t Mid lands

34



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

23

given directly to the woman under the guidance of a Patient Group 
Direction which removes the need for her to make additional visits to 
pharmacies.  Herefordshire’s Stop Smoking in Pregnancy service has 
been cited as an example of best practice, and quit rates from this 
service have been presented to the Department of Health, the National 
Institute of Clinical Excellence and are also going to be mentioned in a 
forthcoming Audit of Smoking Cessation Services in Scotland.

 The Stop Smoking Service is a well-staffed and active one and has always 
exceeded the local targets set by the Department of Health.  
Pharmacists, too, are engaged in this work and 21 out of the 25 county 
pharmacists deliver smoking cessation services.  This year, however, the 
target was only exceeded by 10, and this reflects a national picture.  It is 
known that, at any one time, 70% of smokers want to quit and that, in 
any one year, about a third of them make a quit attempt.  Using the age 
banded figures from the Lifestyles Survey, this would equate to 
approximately 18,988 smokers in Herefordshire wanting to quit at any 
one time and approximately 6,329 making a quit attempt in any one 
year.  The service works to NICE guidelines, and delivers training on both 
brief interventions and intensive support to a range of health and partner 
staff.  The aim of the brief interventions training is to raise awareness, 
knowledge and skill so that colleagues feel confident in identifying 
smokers, assessing readiness to quit and referring on to the Stop 
Smoking Service.  Intensive support training is aimed at nurses (practice 
and school) and pharmacists, so that they can deliver smoking cessation 
services directly.  A separate training module has been developed for 
midwives, student midwives, and Surestart, to ensure that they can 
deliver enhanced quitting support to pregnant women.  It is important to 
continue to empower professional staff in this area, so that encouraging 
quitting becomes the business of everyone who works in the health 
services. The Stop Smoking Service has a good working relationship with 
the staff at the County hospital and Stonebow unit. Dedicated members 
of the stop smoking service regularly visit wards and departments and 
follow up referrals in the community. As well as health professionals, 
there is also opportunity to engage with social care and education 
colleagues.

 This year has been an exciting one in terms of tackling smoking because 
of the introduction on 1st July of the national legislation to ban smoking 
from enclosed public spaces and a further legislative change on 1st

October which makes it illegal to sell cigarettes to those aged under 18 
years of age.  It is important that the implementation of this is enforced.  
In the Teenage Lifestyle Survey, 36% of Year 10 girls had bought their 
last cigarettes from a shop, even though it was illegal to do so.  In 
Herefordshire, a multi-agency “Smoke-Free Herefordshire” group was 
established to lead the work towards effective implementation of the new 
legislation, and this has worked well.  Chaired by a PCT non-executive 
director, and supported by the Director of Environment Services at the 

35



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

24

Council, and Director of Public Health at the PCT, the group has identified 
a work programme and joint investment plan, identifying money in both 
agencies to deliver the agenda.  The national legislation has been kept 
high on the agencies’ agendas.  A successful roadshow was delivered 
around the county, involving local authority and health colleagues, to 
inform the general public about the legislation and encourage quitting.  
Well attended events were held too for local employers.  The Council 
employed two enforcement officers to focus on implementation of the 
legislation, and this has been effective despite one local publican 
featuring in the national and local media because of his opposition to it.  
Although an increase in numbers using the Stop Smoking Service had 
been expected, numbers of quitters have not changed significantly from 
previous years.  Our challenge remains to reach those people who do 
want to quit, and to target young and middle-aged people so that health 
benefits of quitting can be maximised. 

2.4 SENSIBLE DRINKING

2.4.1 There are no national targets, but the recommended intake is that men 
should drink no more than 21 units a week and no more than 4 on any 
one day, and women no more than 14 a week and not more than 3 in 
any one day.  Binge drinking is defined by the Office for National 
Statistics as 8 or more units a day for men and 6 or more units for 
women.

2.4.2 The Regional Lifestyles Survey 2005 shows that 17% of adults in 
Herefordshire (compared with 20% regionally) reported drinking more 
than the recommended amounts each week.  There is a gender related 
difference: 23% of men and 11% of women drink at that level. 

2.4.3 Data on binge drinking show that 23% of people in Herefordshire drank 
at binge drinking levels on at least one day in the previous week.  This is 
lower than the regional figure of 28%.  The rates of binge drinking are 
higher in men; 32% of men and 15% of women in Herefordshire 
compared with regional binge drinking rates of 36% for men and 19% 
for women.  The following table shows the marked correlation between 
age and binge drinking, with the highest rates being among men aged 
18-34 years. 

36



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

25

Table 23: Prevalence of binge drinking 

 Source:  Herefordshire Council RLS Report 

2.4.4 In Herefordshire, mortality rates for alcohol related conditions are low, 
relative to elsewhere in the West Midlands. 

Figure 1:  Directly standardised mortality rates per 100,000 population 
for alcohol related mortality by gender and West Midlands 
Local Authorities, all ages, 2000-2004

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

18-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+

Age band

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

d
e

n
ts

Herefordshire

West Midlands

37



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

26

2.4.5 However, relative to comparator authorities, though the female rate is 
still lower, the male rate is no better than comparators. 

Table 24: Mortality from alcohol-related conditions per 100,000 
population, 2002-2004 

Source:  North West Public Health Observatory: Local Alcohol Profiles for England 

2.4.6 The gender difference is apparent again in terms of length of life lost.  
Reduced life expectancy in terms of months of life lost has been 
calculated from alcohol-related deaths of those aged less than 75 years 
between 2002 and 2004.  In Herefordshire, there were 165 such deaths 
among men in these years and 120 among women.  The following table 
shows an average of almost 10 months of life lost among men, and 3 
months among women. 

Table 25: Average months of life lost attributable to alcohol, 2002-
2004

Herefordshire
Comparator
Authorities 

West
Midlands England

Males 9.7 9.0 10.9 9.6 
Females 3.0 5.2 5.5 5.1 

Source:  North West Public Health Observatory: Local Alcohol Profiles for England 

2.4.7 Male mortality under 75 years from chronic liver disease including 
cirrhosis under 75 years is higher than that in comparator authorities, 
and should be monitored although rates are based on small numbers (31 
male deaths and 10 female deaths in the three year period).  Again, 
female mortality is lower. 

Table 26: Under 75 years mortality from chronic liver disease, DSR per 
100,000 population, 2003-2005 

 Source:  North West Public Health Observatory: Local Alcohol Profiles for England 

Herefordshire
Comparator
Authorities 

West
Midlands England

Males 48.4 48.3 56.0 50.2 
Females 20.8 26.6 30.1 28.0 

Herefordshire
Comparator
Authorities 

West
Midlands England

Persons 6.7 5.0 11.0 9.7 
Males 10.6 6.3 14.7 13.0 

Females 2.9 3.8 7.3 6.5 

38



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

27

2.4.8 The same trends are clear from an analysis of alcohol related hospital 
admissions:  Herefordshire rates overall are low, but considerably higher 
for men than for women.  The first table deals with alcohol related
admissions, which includes all specific conditions but also those where 
alcohol is casually implicated, such as accidents.  The second deals with 
alcohol specific admissions only. 

Table 27: Alcohol related hospital admissions, DSR per 100,000 
population, 2004/2005 

Herefordshire
Comparator
Authorities 

West
Midlands England

Males 669 757 782 826 
Females 366 444 437 462 

Source:  North West Public Health Observatory: Local Alcohol Profiles for England 

 In 2004-2005 there were 658 male admissions and 442 female alcohol-
related admissions. 

Table 28: Alcohol specific hospital admissions, DSR per 100,000 
population, 2004/2005 

Herefordshire
Comparator
Authorities 

West
Midlands England

Males 236 240 285 306 
Females 113 128 127 145 

Source:  North West Public Health Observatory: Local Alcohol Profiles for England 

 Again rates must be treated with caution as the numbers of alcohol-
specific admissions (97 for females and 202 for males) are relatively low. 

2.4.9 A different, and concerning, picture emerges from analysis by age, again 
highlighting gender differences: for males under 18, the male admission 
rate is significantly above England, the West Midlands and comparator 
authorities.  However, there are very small numbers here (18 male and 
12 female admissions between 2002 and 2005) and so this is a marker 
for closer scrutiny, rather than evidence of a clear trend. 

Table 29: Under 18 years alcohol specific hospital admissions per 
100,000 population, 2002-05 

Herefordshire
Comparator
Authorities 

West
Midlands England

Males 63 55 52 49 
Females 53 52 60 59 

Source:  North West Public Health Observatory: Local Alcohol Profiles for England 

39



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

28

2.4.10 Alcohol is implicated in 40% of all reported crime and 70% of stabbings 
and beatings.  The following table shows rates of crimes recorded by the 
Home Office as attributable to alcohol.  This shows that although there is 
a low level of crime attributable to alcohol in Herefordshire, when 
compared with the region and England as a whole, the rates are slightly 
above those in comparator authorities. 

Table 30: Crime attributable to alcohol per 1,000 population, 2005-
2006

Herefordshire

Comparator 

Authorities 

West

Midlands England

Recorded crime 6.19 5.74 10.12 10.45 

Violent crime 4.97 4.45 7.18 7.33 

Sexual offences 0.13 0.09 0.15 0.15 

Source:  North West Public Health Observatory: Local Alcohol Profiles for England 

 In Herefordshire in 2005-2006, there were 3,065 incidents of alcohol 
related disorder, compared with 2,290 in 2004-2005.  However, numbers 
of alcohol related violent crimes have fallen from 1,421 in 2004-2005 to 
1,226 in 2005-2006. 

2.4.11  Analysis of hospital admissions of Herefordshire residents during the five 
year period 2002-2006 reveals in excess of 1,500 alcohol specific 
admissions, an average of approximately 315 per year.  The growth in 
the number of admissions year-on-year represents a consistent and 
worsening trend; in 2006 alone admissions rose by almost 50% on the 
previous year from 348 to 516. 

Table 31: Numbers of alcohol related admissions, 2002-2006 

Year Number 

2002 204 

2003 242 

2004 255 

2005 348 

2006 516 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 From 2003 onwards, males have accounted for approximately 70% of 
these admissions (360 out of 516 in 2006). 

 Analysis by age shows that most of the alcohol-specific admissions are 
from the middle age bands: 

40



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

29

Table 32: Percentage of alcohol-specific hospital admissions, 2002-06 
by age band 

Age Percentage of all alcohol-
specific admissions 

<16 years 5.0 

16-24 years 9.9 

25-34 years 13.0 

35-44 years 19.2 

45-54 years 19.2 

55-64 years 16.5 

65-74 years 11.7 

75+ 5.4 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 Although admissions of under 16 year olds account for only 5% of all 
admissions, the actual number has risen from 9 in 2002 to 30 in 2006.  
More girls than boys were admitted from the 14 and 15 year old cohort, 
and numbers within this group have risen sharply from an average of 4 
female admissions per year between 2002 and 2004, to 19 female 
admissions in 2006. 

Table 33:  Alcohol-related admissions 2002-06, by age band and gender

 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 Very clear links can be seen between social deprivation and alcohol abuse 
leading to alcohol-related admission.  Analysis of admissions by 
deprivation quartile reveals that 732 (46.8%) of all admissions in the 
five-year period were of patients from areas comprising the most 
deprived quartile of Herefordshire (ie. patients with a postcode located 

41



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

30

within the 29 most deprived Super Output Areas).  The most deprived 
quartile of Herefordshire accounts for almost half of all alcohol-related 
admissions despite making up less than a quarter (24.7%) of the county 
population at the last Census. 

 In contrast, all three other less deprived quartiles combined (ie. the 
remaining 87 Super Output Areas) totalled 833 admissions or just 53.2% 
of the Herefordshire total despite representing over three quarters of the 
county population.  There was no marked difference in admission 
numbers between these three quartiles which seems to indicate 
excessive alcohol consumption only correlates with deprivation among 
the most deprived communities. 

Table 34: Percentage of alcohol-related hospital admissions 2002-06, 
by deprivation quartile 

Quartile 1 (least deprived) 17.5% 

Quartile 2 18.6% 

Quartile 3 17.1% 

Quartile 4 (most deprived) 46.8% 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 By analysing the 18 most deprived Super Output Areas within the most 
deprived quartile (ie. those commonly acknowledged to represent 
communities suffering pronounced deprivation within Herefordshire such 
as the South Wye of Hereford City and parts of Leominster), it is possible 
to establish the link further.  These most deprived 18 SOAs represent 
approximately 15% of the total Herefordshire population, yet accounted 
for 37.3% (584) of all admissions in 2002-2006.  Expressed in terms of a 
directly standardised rate (to the European Standard Population) in order 
to allow for any differences in the age structure of each population, the 
admission rate per 100,000 for the whole of Herefordshire is 176.4 per 
100,000 compared to an equivalent rate for the “deprived 18” grouping 
of 460.0 per 100,000. 

2.4.12 The numbers of adults exceeding the sensible levels of drinking is 
perhaps not surprising, given that the majority of respondents were 
found in the 2002 West Midlands Adult Health and Lifestyle Survey, to be 
unaware of the limits.  Only 14% of men in Herefordshire identified the 
“safe” maximum number of weekly alcohol units correctly, and in total 
two-thirds of male respondents either didn’t know the weekly limit or 
thought it to be greater than 21 units.  For women, 16% knew the 
correct maximum limit, but again almost 70% either didn’t know the 
weekly limit or thought it to be greater than 14 units. 

2.4.13 The Teenage Lifestyles Survey showed that alcohol consumption is an 
issue for young people too.  Overall, 26% had at least one alcoholic drink 
in the week before the survey and percentages were highest among the 

42



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

31

Year 10s.  The national reference sample figure for England and Wales 
for Year 10s was 43%. 

Table 35: Percentage of pupils reporting at least one alcoholic drink in 
the week before the survey 

Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 

Male  11% 22% 30% 42% 

Female 7% 16% 29% 48% 
Source:  Health Related Behaviour Survey, Herefordshire Partnership, Autumn 2006 

 Overall, 18% had two or more units of alcohol in the previous week. 

Table 36: Percentage of pupils reporting two or more units of alcohol 
in the previous week 

Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 

Male  4% 13% 21% 35% 

Female 3% 9% 21% 37% 
 Source:  Health Related Behaviour Survey, Herefordshire Partnership, Autumn 2006 

 The figures concerning the percentage of pupils who reported having got 
drunk on at least one day in the previous week show relatively high levels 
among Year 10 pupils, and in particular among Year 10 girls. 

Table 37: Percentage of pupils reporting getting drunk on at least one 
day in the previous week 

Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 

Male  3% 4% 9% 16% 

Female 1% 3% 10% 25% 
Source:  Health Related Behaviour Survey, Herefordshire Partnership, Autumn 2006

2.4.14 An estimation of the total numbers of alcoholic units consumed in the 
previous seven days indicated that, among Year 9 and Year 10 pupils, 
10% of males and 6% of females drank more than the recommended 
weekly maximum for an adult woman (14 units).      

2.4.15 The PCT is responding to this evidence of increasing risk-taking 
behaviour related to alcohol in a number of ways.  The health promotion 
effort to challenge alcohol abuse is focused on young people and two 
programmes “Bottling It Up” and Out of It” use Theatre in Education 
workshop techniques to explore the use of alcohol; its various effects and 
consequences; and identify strategies for safe and sustainable use.  
These programmes were researched, designed and developed in 
Herefordshire in partnership with the Catalyst Theatre in Education 
Company.  Major tours of both productions are scheduled for 2008.  
During 2008, a new piece of work will centre on Hereford’s main Further 

43



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

32

and Higher Education campus, working with students and staff to 
develop an educational resource that is young person peer led and which 
promotes a safer relationship to alcohol.  Project partners include the 
PCT, the Bulmer Foundation and the Catalyst Company. 

2.4.16 The local Community Alcohol Service (CAS) consists of 3.5 staff plus one 
session a week from the public health improvement manager.  A new 
development from September 2007 is a drop-in self-referral service on 
Thursday mornings.  This is based at the Asda site (Kindle Centre), and is 
staffed by a volunteer who has been trained and is supported by the 
CAS.

2.4.17 The PCT is currently working with CAS to set up a two year pilot scheme 
of an alcohol advisory nurse, based in the County Hospital.  This post will 
be funded by “Choosing Health” money and by the Bulmer Foundation.  
The nurse will see clients in A&E, in clinics, and on the wards, offering 
brief interventions and support to medical and nursing staff.  This is one 
response to the rising numbers of alcohol related admissions. 

2.4.18 An important strand in the work to tackle the rising alcohol problem is 
the “Understanding Alcohol” training which is provided by Public Health 
and CAS.  This is free-of-charge, held monthly, and available for those in 
statutory and non-statutory organisations.  It aims to train staff as health 
educators and to be able to make a brief intervention.  An advanced 
course has been run since 2005 for those who want to develop beyond 
the basic level. 

2.4.19 There are opportunities here for more partnership working, building on 
the already successful joint initiatives.  In particular, work with the 
Criminal Justice system can be developed, to tackle the increase in binge 
drinking among the younger age groups.  The Community Safety and 
Drugs Partnership took a lead in developing an Arrest Referral Scheme in 
2004 and this provides quick access to the CAS by self-referral, bail 
condition, or fixed penalty for an alcohol related offence.  Offenders 
attend one session for screening, education and advice.  The fixed 
penalty scheme involves two sessions and enables offenders to have 
their fine cancelled. 

2.5 OBESITY

2.5.1 Nationally, numbers of people who are obese and overweight are rising 
and this has serious consequences for public health.  As the percentage 
of the population which is obese rises, so to does the burden on health 
care services.  The Chief Medical Officer in his 2002 annual report 
referred to obesity as a time bomb and noted that obesity levels in 
England have tripled in the last two decades.  At the moment, there is no 
national target for reducing adult obesity, although there are two pieces 
of Department of Health advice which are linked to this: 

44



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

33

To eat 5 or more pieces of fruit or vegetables a day. 

For adults, to take 30 minutes exercise 5 times per week. 

For children, a specific national target relates to children’s weight, and 
delivery of this is tasked to the Department of Health, DfES and the 
Department of Culture, Media and Sport: 

To halt the year-on-year rise on obesity among children under 11 
years by 2010 in the context of a broader strategy to tackle obesity in 
the population as a whole. 

2.5.2 In Summer 2006 the first national weighing and measuring of all 
Reception and Year 6 children took place.  This is an essential data 
collection exercise, which will inform service planning as well as enable 
progress towards the national target to be monitored.  In Herefordshire, 
the PCT, through its schools and School Nursing Services, did particularly 
well in achieving a high level of coverage.  83.9% of Reception and Year 
6 children were weighed and measured, compared with the national 
average of 48% and a regional average of 50.3%.  In all, 2803 children 
in Herefordshire were weighed and measured, out of the 3,340 
registered in Reception and Year 6. 

2.5.3 Herefordshire PCT’s figures show that 8.7% of Reception and 16.3% of 
Year 6 children were obese.  This is slightly below the figures for the 
West Midlands SHA area (10.2% and 17.6% respectively) and the figures 
for England as a whole (10.0% and 17.3% respectively).  The figures for 
girls (8.8% in Reception and 15.3% in Year 6) are slightly below those of 
boys (8.9% and 17.2% respectively). 

2.5.4 The data show that 14.2% of Reception year children were overweight, 
and 14.9% were overweight in Year 6.  Again, the percentage of boys 
measured as overweight (15.5%) is higher than in the case of girls 
(13.6%).  The figures for the percentage of children overweight in 
Herefordshire are slightly higher than they are nationally (12.8% in 
Reception, 13.8% in Year 6) or regionally (12.5% in Reception and 
14.3% in Year 6).  However, these comparisons are of limited value 
because the response rate nationally was far lower than locally, and it is 
known that overweight and obese children are less likely to consent to 
being weighed and measured. 

2.5.5 In all, 22.9% of Reception class children and 31.2% of Year 6 children in 
Herefordshire were either overweight or obese.  The table below 
summarises the prevalence data, and highlights the significant increase in 
prevalence between Reception and Year 6. 

45



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

34

Table 38: Prevalence of obesity and overweight among children, by 
sex and school year, Herefordshire 2005-2006 

Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

2.5.6 Analysis of the data with regard to social deprivation shows a correlation 
between obesity and living in an area of high social deprivation.  The 
correlation in terms of overweight is not evident. 

Table 39: Percentage overweight and obese in the most deprived 
Super Output Areas (Deprived 18) compared to the rest of 
Herefordshire1

  Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

1 Based on the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) data released in 2004 by the Office of the Deputy PM.  The IMD data 
gives small area deprivation scores for sub-divisions of wards known as Super Output Areas (SOAs).  There are 116 SOAs in 
Herefordshire, each with a population approximating 1,500 and based on areas of similar housing tenure.  They have the 
advantage of distinguishing between very different parts of the same ward (eg. relative poverty and affluence within the 
Belmont Ward) and are therefore more flexible and sensitive measure of deprivation within the county. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

%
 C

h
il
d

re
n

  
m

e
a
s
u

re
d

o
v
e
rw

e
ig

h
t 

o
r 

o
b

e
s
e

Overweight Obese Overweight Obese

Deprived 18 Rest of Herefordshire

Reception

Year 6

Prevalence of Obesity and Overweight among children, by sex and 

school year, Herefordshire 2005-06

16.1

12.4

14.2

15.0 14.7 14.9

8.
9

8.
8

8.
8

17.2

15.3

16.3

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

18.0

20.0

M F Both M F Both

YrR Yr6

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 P
re

v
a

le
n

c
e

Overweight

Obese

46



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

35

 The graph above uses the postcode of the school in order to attempt 
some preliminary analysis of the impact of social deprivation.  The 
combined figures for children in Reception and Year 6 measured as 
overweight show there is a similar percentage of children within and 
without the “Deprived 18” category – 14.4% and 15.0%.  However the 
figures for obesity show a more marked difference: the percentage of 
children (combined years) from schools within the “Deprived 18” falling 
into the obese category is 19.3%.  The equivalent from areas outside of 
this group (ie. less deprived) is 11.7%.  This proxy is limited by the fact 
that school catchment areas are clearly much wider than merely the 
postcode in which the school itself is located, especially in rural and semi-
rural areas. 

2.5.7 A useful proxy for social deprivation in this instance is free school meal 
eligibility.  Each point in the scatter diagram below represents a cluster 
group of schools.  The aim is to express the correlation between the 
percentage of children who measured as obese and the percentage of 
Free School Meal Eligibility within each cluster group’s Reception and 
Year 6 populations. The line shows a positive association, ie, the higher 
the rate of eligibility for Free School Meals, the higher the rate of obesity.  
The two clusters showing the highest correlation to the right of the 
diagram are Leominster and Wyebridge. 

Figure 2: Child obesity (Year R and 6) by school cluster group against 
percentage Free School Meal eligibility 

Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT

0

5

10

15

20

0 5 10 15 20 25

% Free School Meal Eligibility (Years R to 6)

%
 C

h
il

d
re

n
 O

b
e

s
e
 (

Y
e
a
rs

 R
+

6
)

School Catchment Group

Linear (School Catchment Group)

47



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

36

2.5.8 Despite the data on obesity relating to primary aged children, the 
Teenage Lifestyle Survey shows a relatively positive picture in terms of 
eating fresh fruit and vegetable.  24% of pupils had at least five portions 
of fruit or vegetables the day before the survey.  Herefordshire pupils 
were more likely than were pupils in a national reference sample to say 
that they ate fresh fruit and vegetables on most days.  60% of Year 10 
girls, for example, reported this, compared with 51% in the reference 
sample.  41% of boys and 55% of girls in Herefordshire in year 8 said 
that they eat fruit on most days compared with 28% and 36% in the 
reference sample. 

 However, 8% of pupils had no fruit or vegetables at all the day before 
the survey, and 17% reported having had nothing to eat or drink for 
breakfast on the day of the survey.  11% had eaten no lunch on the day 
before the survey. 

2.5.9 70% of pupils reported that they had exercised enough to increase their 
breathing rate three or more times in the week before the survey.  This 
varied between ages and gender. 

Table 40: Percentage of pupils reporting exercising enough to increase 
their breathing rate three or more times in the week before 
the survey 

Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 

Male  77% 76% 77% 78% 

Female 68% 65% 62% 60% 
Source:  Health Related Behaviour Survey, Herefordshire Partnership, Autumn 2006

 However, 8% said they had only exercised to this level once in the week 
before the survey, and 6% said never. 

2.5.10 The PCT has worked on a number of initiatives this year to tackle obesity.
It has: 

Employed a Health Improvement Manager to focus on obesity.  She 
is supporting pedometer training for staff; developing well-being 
support for staff; working with schools to promote healthy eating; 
inputting to staff induction training; working with community 
pharmacists to deliver an “apples and pears” campaign; and has 
established a network of obesity champions across primary care. 

Employed a part-time community food worker who is focusing 
activity on children and families, working closely with children’s 
centres and encouraging practical cookery skills. 

Continued to support the Wye Wood project.  This focuses on 
maximising the health benefit of woodland and encourages 
moderate physical activity such as walking, as well as more 
strenuous activities such as coppicing.  An evaluation has 

48



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

37

demonstrated that, although numbers involved are small, there has 
been some success in involving hard-to-reach groups such as young 
people involved in criminal justice; older people in isolated 
communities; and those with mental health problems in rural areas.  
An exciting new aspect to this is possible extension of the work, 
using charitable and lottery funds, to develop a social enterprise 
from the marketing of coppiced products. 

Continued to support a breastfeeding project which provides 
enhanced support to all teenage parents and to all women in the 
South Wye area.  The support is based on a peer support model, 
together with specialist training for professional staff.  Breastfeeding 
has an important link to obesity, both because breastfed babies are 
less likely to become obese, and because women who breastfeed are 
likely to regain their pre-pregnancy weight more quickly than are 
those who do not breastfeed.  Although initiation rates of 
breastfeeding in the county are relatively high (72.3% of women in 
2004-2005, compared with 55.2% in the West Midlands and 67.6% 
in comparator authorities), these figures reduce significantly by the 
time the babies are 6 weeks old (by 6 weeks, only 48% of babies in 
2005-2006 were breastfed). 
Worked with schools to influence the successful implementation of 
the new Food in Schools Standards, required from October 2007.  
This has included supporting a School Meals Strategy Group; training 
governors; and sending an information pack to every Chair of 
Governors in the county. 
A slimming club referral pilot scheme has been developed with GP 
referral from September 2006, to Weight Watchers and Rosemary 
Conley.
Building a sustainable Eat 2B Fit group in South Wye.  This was 
piloted last year and is now provided as a three times a year 
programme.  On-going evaluation of outcomes and satisfaction is 
positive. 
Wide dissemination of NICE obesity guidance across the partner 
agencies.

Commencement of PCT based Health in the Workplace initiatives, 
including a vegetable box scheme; walking at lunchtime; and 
starting the work on developing a PCT travel plan which would 
support active ways of getting to work. 
Developed a network of health staff equipped with pedometers to 
support goal setting to increase physical activity. 
Continued to support LIFT, an exercise referral scheme run in 
partnership with the Council.  Evaluation of the scheme suggests 
72% of clients are motivated to begin exercise as a result of wanting 
to lose weight, and that 35% have lost weight by the completion of 
the 12-week programme 

49



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

38

2.5.11 One area of concern is the relatively low BMI recording by GPs.  This is a 
vital source of baseline and monitoring data but the recording level is 
currently too low to be of full use.  It is important that the PCT takes 
every opportunity to encourage GPs to record BMI. 

2.6 SOCIAL DEPRIVATION

2.6.1 Although Herefordshire is often seen as a relatively affluent area, social 
deprivation exists here, and there is worrying evidence of related health 
inequality. 

2.6.2 Deprivation is usually identified by reference to the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 2004.  This calculates deprivation by combining a number of 
indicators across seven domains into a single score and rank for each 
Super Output Area (SOA1) in England.  The seven domains are: income; 
employment; health and disability; education, skills and training; barriers 
to housing and services; living environment deprivation; and crime.  An 
SOA has a population of approximately 1,500, and there are 116 SOA1s 
in Herefordshire. 

 In terms of overall IMD, there are seven SOAs in Herefordshire which fall 
within the 25% most deprived in England.  Six of these are in Hereford 
City, and one is in Leominster.  One of these in Hereford City and the 
Leominster SOA fall within the 20% most deprived in England. 

2.6.3 In general terms, wages in Herefordshire are relatively low, although the 
employment rate is relatively high.  The self-employment rate is also 
high. 

Table 41: Ratios of median weekly gross full-time earnings (work 
based)

2004 2005 2006 

Herefordshire 346.10 351.20 390.60 

West Midlands 392.40 402.50 415.50 

Ratio of Herefordshire to 
West Midlands 

0.88 0.87 0.94 

Source:  ONS (State of Herefordshire Report) 

 Although the 2006 figures suggest a decrease in the gap between local 
median earnings and those in the West Midlands Region, the figures are 
based on relatively small samples and may not evidence a trend. 

 Herefordshire’s employment rate was 78% in 2005-2006, compared with 
73% regionally and 74% nationally.  The self-employment rate in 2005-
2006 was 16%, compared with 8% regionally and 10% nationally. 

50



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

39

2.6.4 Deprivation within certain IMD domains is more concentrated than it is in 
the overall IMD.  In the adult sub-section of the education, skills and 
training domain, for example, 15 Super Output Areas fall within the 20% 
most deprived nationally and 4 fall within the 10% most deprived 
nationally.  Three of these are in Hereford City and one is in Leominster. 

2.6.5 Analysis of mortality data shows that standardised mortality ratios (SMRs) 
are higher in socio-economically deprived areas - such as the South Wye 
area of Hereford City or the 18 most deprived Super Output Areas 
(collectively known as the ‘D18’) - than they are in the rest of the county. 
However Tables 42 and 43 indicate that whilst mortality ratios are 
significantly higher in such areas with regard to males and all persons, 
they appear only slightly higher for women compared to Herefordshire 
generally. Men in South Wye and in the DI8 have SMRs of 133 and 129 
respectively, ie. 33% and 29% higher mortality than men in 
Herefordshire as a whole. 

Table 42: Standardised Mortality Ratios for South Wye: Registered 
deaths to persons resident in Herefordshire 2004-2006 
against 2001 Census Population (at SOA1 Level) 

MALES

 Observed
Deaths 

Expected
Deaths 

SMR Cl adj LL UL 

South Wye 176 133 133 19.6 113 152 

Herefordshire 2822 2822 100 3.7 96 104 

FEMALES

South Wye 139 127 110 18.2 92 128 

Herefordshire 2934 2934 100 3.6 96 104 

PERSONS

South Wye 315 262 120 13.3 107 143 

Herefordshire 5756 5756 100 2.6 97 103 
Based on 8 South Wye SOA1s excluding Belmont Abbotsmead, Belmont Whitefriars, Broadleys, 
Hinton Road and Lower Bullingham 

 NB:  Definition of South Wye changed from previous versions to include only D18 SOA1s. 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT

51



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

40

Table 43: Standardised Mortality Ratios for Deprived Herefordshire 
(D18): Registered deaths to persons resident in 
Herefordshire 2004-2006 against 2001 Census Population 
(at SOA1 Level) 

MALES

 Observed
Deaths 

Expected
Deaths 

SMR Cl adj LL UL 

Deprived
Herefordshire 

451 349 129 11.9 117 141 

Herefordshire 2822 2822 100 3.7 96 104 

FEMALES

Deprived
Herefordshire 

410 401 102 9.9 92 112 

Herefordshire 2934 2934 100 3.6 96 104 

PERSONS

Deprived
Herefordshire 

861 760 113 7.6 106 121 

Herefordshire 5756 5756 100 2.6 97 103 
Based on 18 most deprived SOA1s  

 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

2.6.6 These figures are consistent with the earlier data relating to alcohol, and 
smoking, in that men from deprived populations have the highest rates.  
Smoking in particular is known nationally to be key in understanding 
differences in health outcome between people of different social groups.   

2.6.7 Perinatal and infant mortality

 There is some evidence that perinatal mortality (stillbirths and deaths in 
the first week of life) too is higher in the areas of social deprivation.  If 
the county is divided into four quartiles of deprivation, the most deprived 
quartile accounts for almost 50% of all perinatal mortality (20 out of 42 
notifications), including 15 of a total of 28 stillbirths over the four-year 
period 2003-06. 

Table 44: Perinatal mortality in Herefordshire by social deprivation: 4 
years pooled data, 2003-2006

Rate Numbers 

Quartile 1 (least deprived) 4.71 7 

Quartile 2 4.73 7 

Quartile 3 4.80 8 

Quartile 4 (most deprived) 9.43 20 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

 In South Wye alone, the rate is higher still, at 13.8 (10 cases).  This 
worrying link is evident at regional and national levels too. 

52



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

41

 However, locally, with regard to infant mortality, there is no such link, 
and this reflects the need for caution when dealing with small figures. 

2.6.8 Hospital admissions data (Table 45) show that rates are often highest 
among the South Wye population and also are frequently significantly 
above average in the D18 area. Rate ratios illustrate by gender the 
number of admissions from each deprivation area per one admission 
from within the total Herefordshire population; for example for every one 
male psychiatric admission from the total population there are 2.34 such 
admissions from the D18 areas. 

Table 45: Hospital admissions 2004-2006 (rates per 1,000)  

Males Females 

Herefordshire D18 South Wye Herefordshire D18 South Wye 

All Admissions 
(ICD10)

177.2 
(174.7-179.6)

234.7 
(227.6-241.7)

248.4 
(238.1-258.7)

231.7 
(228.8-234.5)

303.1 
(295.6-310.6)

307.4 
(296.7-318.1)

Cancer Admissions 
(C00-C99)

22.3 
(21.5-23.2)

22.4 
(19.9-24.9)

14.9 
(12.2-17.7)

24.6 
(23.7-25.5)

24.8 
(22.2-27.3)

27.2 
(23.2-31.1)

CHD Admissions 
(I20-I25)

5.77 
(5.31-6.21)

8.27 
(6.67-9.86)

7.54 
(5.23-9.84)

2.14 
(1.89-2.39)

2.39 
(1.63-3.14)

2.39 
(1.26-3.51)

Cerebrovascular
Admissions
(I60-I69)

1.85 
(1.61-2.10)

2.92 
(2.04-3.80)

2.92 
(1.56-4.27)

1.50 
(1.30-1.70)

1.82 
(1.20-2.44)

1.78 
(0.84-2.73)

Respiratory
Admissions
(J00-J99)

12.7 
(11.9-13.4)

17.7 
(15.4-20.0)

19.4 
(15.9-22.9)

9.72 
(9.06-10.4)

15.6 
(13.5-17.7)

17.0 
(13.8-20.2)

Psychiatric Admissions 
(F00-F99)

2.73 
(2.38-3.09)

6.39 
(5.00-7.79)

5.18 
(3.30-7.06)

2.42 
(2.10-2.74)

4.59 
(3.45-5.73)

2.95 
(1.65-4.35)

Paediatric Admissions 
(0-14 yrs excl. Z75.5 
respite care) 

159.7 
(154.0-165.4)

204.7 
(190.1-219.4)

204.1 
(183.7-224.3)

121.3 
(116.1-126.6)

142.6 
(129.7-155.5)

137.9 
(120.3-155.4)

Male
Rate Ratios 

Female
Rate Ratios 

D18 South Wye D18 South Wye 

All Admissions 
(ICD10)

1.32 1.40 1.31 1.33 

Cancer Admissions 
(C00-C99)

1.00 0.67 1.01 1.10 

CHD Admissions 
(I20-I25)

1.43 1.31 1.12 1.12 

Cerebrovascular
Admissions
(I60-I69)

1.58 1.58 1.21 1.19 

Respiratory
Admissions
(J00-J99)

1.39 1.53 1.60 1.75 

Psychiatric Admissions 
(F00-F99)

2.34 1.89 1.90 1.22 

Paediatric Admissions 
(0-14 yrs excl. Z75.5 
respite care) 

1.28 1.28 1.18 1.14 

Standardised using 2001 Census population against ESP.  Includes all admissions with valid 
Herefordshire postcode minus well baby episodes (Z37*/Z38*).  Includes respite care Z75.5 
except for paediatric admissions.
Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

53



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

42

 Admission rates shaded red denote a rate statistically significantly higher 
than the equivalent Herefordshire rate.  Total admissions from both 
deprived areas are significantly above those for Herefordshire as a whole.   
The same is true for respiratory admissions, male psychiatric admissions, 
paediatric admissions for boys aged 0-14 years, male CHD admissions in 
D18, psychiatric admissions for women in D18 and paediatric admissions 
for girls aged 0-14 years in D18. 

 It should also be noted that while the cancer admission rates (shaded 
blue) for men in South Wye is below average, the annual number of 
admissions is actually increasing. 

Table 46: Cancer admissions, South Wye males

 2004 2005 2006 

Males 59 81 152 
 Source:  Public Health Department, Herefordshire PCT 

2.6.9 The PCT works hard to challenge health inequalities.  Increasingly, all its 
services are targeted in areas of greatest social need and development 
money is targeted in this way.  From 2006/2007, for example, an 
additional £125,000 a year will be invested to develop an enhanced, gold 
standard nursing service in South Wye and Leominster which are the 
areas of highest social deprivation.  The public health department now 
employs a Health Improvement Manager who focuses on health 
inequalities and work in this area includes: 

Establishment of an “Eat &b Fit” programme in South Wye.  This is a 
10-week programme, focusing on supporting overweight people to 
make sustained lifestyle improvements.  This now runs three times a 
year.
Working with partners to secure funding for further targeted work.  
A bid to the Lottery fund has been successful, and others are in the 
process of being developed or processed. 
Facilitating the Healthier Communities and Older People’s Advisory 
Group of the South Wye Regeneration Partnership to take forward 
and develop work following on from the period of regeneration 
funding. 
In September 2007, the PCT employed a Health Trainer Co-ordinator 
whose role will be to take forward the health trainer initiative locally.  
This will employ “health trainers” from the local community to 
support people from an area of social deprivation who want to 
change their behaviour and make healthier lifestyle choices.  
“Choosing Health” investment is available to fund the Co-ordinator’s 
post and that of three health trainers in the first instance. 

Developing a drop-in service in South Wye.  A pilot health and well-
being drop-in session using the health bus, and based at a primary 
school site, was run in the Summer term 2007.  This was used to 

54



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

43

understand more about local needs and wants in terms of well-
being.

Finding ways to increase the effectiveness of the “Stop Smoking” 
service in the deprived areas.  Working through the local Children’s 
Centres is one important link. 
Increasing the NHS visibility in South Wye. The relocation of the 
health promotion resource facility to the Asda site has been 
important here, and this has created the opportunity for links to be 
made with local employers and their workforce. 

2.7 RECOMMENDATIONS

To support the successful introduction of the national chlamydia 
screening programme. 

To focus attention on supporting pregnant women to stop smoking. 
To highlight locally the trends around alcohol abuse and to work with 
partners to reduce binge drinking, and hospital admissions, focusing 
particularly on young people and on people in the more deprived 
areas.

To maximise the primary care contribution to tackling obesity, 
especially in terms of BMI recording, and developing services in the 
community to which overweight and obese patients can be 
signposted.  The potential of health trainers in this area should also 
be maximised. 

To ensure that the Public Health Department continues to influence 
all areas of PCT activity in terms of understanding and challenging 
the links between high social deprivation and poor health outcome. 

55



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

44

56



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

45

CHAPTER 3
FALLS

3.1 SUMMARY

3.1.1 In the 2006 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health, I drew 
attention to the large percentage of hospital admissions caused by falls, 
and recommended that further scoping work be done in this area.  This 
chapter reports on this.  Falls related injury is a major cause of 
preventable morbidity and mortality and is a particular issue for children 
aged 0-14 and older people aged 75 and over. In older people a history 
of falls is a good predictor of hip fracture, the rate of which is 
significantly raised in Herefordshire. Studies have shown that a 
multifaceted approach to falls prevention in older people is particularly 
effective, combining primary prevention aimed at the general population 
with more specific interventions targeted at those at risk of fracture who 
have already fallen.  

3.2 THE PATTERN OF FALLS IN HEREFORDSHIRE

3.2.1 In the 2006 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health, an analysis of 
injury-based hospital admissions showed that most (53%) were as a 
result of falls, and that of these nearly half (49%) occurred at home.  

3.2.2 The figure below shows the proportion of hospital admissions for falls by 
age group and sex for the years 2001/02 to 2006/07 for Herefordshire 
residents. Over this time period the numbers of hospital admissions for 
falls in Herefordshire has remained fairly constant.  

Figure 3: Hospital in-patient admissions for falls by age band and 
gender  2002 to 2007 

 Source: Herefordshire PCT: Public Health Department

Hospital Admissions for Falls

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

16.00

18.00

0-4 5-14 15-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85-94 95+

age band

p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
to

ta
l 

a
d

m
is

s
io

n
s

males

females

57



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

46

3.2.3 The two groups that are most at risk of serious injury through falling are 
young boys, aged between 5 and 14, who comprise just over 8% of all 
hospital admissions for falls, and older women aged over 75 who account 
for nearly 35%.

3.3 FALLS IN YOUNG PEOPLE AGED 0-14 YEARS

3.3.1 In boys aged under 15 injuries often relate to active lifestyles. 23% of 
falls that lead to hospital admission are caused by slips, trips or stumbles. 
Over 18% are due to falls from playground equipment, with another 8% 
linked to the use of ice skates, skates or roller boards. This link to activity 
is reflected in the place falls take place with only 23% taking place in the 
home and nearly 30% taking place at school or in sports locations.  
Hospital admissions for injuries related to falls in this age group tend to 
be higher in the summer months whilst injuries related to falls in older 
people take place throughout the year and interestingly, with milder 
winters, show only a slight winter rise.  

Figure 4: Hospital in-patient admissions for falls by month of fall 2002 
to 2007 

  Source: Herefordshire PCT: Public Health Department

3.3.2 The Chief Medical Officer has highlighted the issue of unintentional injury 
in children across the West Midlands in his report in 2006. The death rate 
from injury in boys under the age of 15 in the West Midlands as a whole 
is the third highest in England. Whilst transport accidents account for the 
majority of these deaths, falls accounts for 4%.  

3.3.3 Comparison of hospital admission rates from unintentional injury for 
children aged under 15 shows that for all Local Authority areas across the 
West Midlands, boys have significantly higher rates than girls. Rates in 

Hospital admissions for injury from falls

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

month of fall

p
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

women 75+

boys 5-14

58



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

47

Herefordshire for boys and girls are significantly lower than those found 
in either England or the West Midlands region. 

Figure 5: Hospital in-patient admissions for unintentional injury by 
West Midlands Local Authority 2001 to 2006 

Directly standardised admission rates from unintentional injuries, by West Midlands Local Authority,

Age under 15, Males & Females, 

Year 2001/02-2005/06

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

S
to

ke
-o

n
-T

re
n
t

N
ew

ca
st

le
-u

n
d
er

-L
ym

e

Sh
re

w
sb

u
ry

 a
n
d 

A
tc

h
am

W
al

sa
ll

B
ir
m

in
gh

am

S
ol

ih
u
ll

Te
lf
or

d a
n
d 

W
re

ki
n

S
ta

ff
or

d

C
an

n
oc

k
C
h
as

e

St
af

fo
rd

sh
ir
e 

M
oo

rl
an

ds

Ea
st

 S
ta

ff
or

ds
h
ir
e

R
ed

di
tc

h

S
an

d
w

el
l

W
or

ce
st

er

M
al

ve
rn

 H
ill

s

W
ar

w
ic
k

N
un

ea
to

n
 a

n
d 

B
ed

w
or

th

N
or

th
 W

ar
w

ic
ks

h
ir
e

Str
at

fo
rd

-o
n
-A

vo
n

So
u
th

 S
hr

op
sh

ir
e

N
or

th
 S

h
ro

psh
ir
e

W
ol

ve
rh

am
pt

on

W
yr

e 
Fo

re
st

C
ou

nt
y 

of
 H

er
ef

or
ds

h
ir
e

D
ud

le
y

W
yc

ha
vo

n

Ta
m

w
or

th

Li
ch

fi
el

d

C
ov

en
tr

y

B
ro

m
sg

ro
ve

S
ou

th
 S

ta
ff
or

dsh
ir
e

B
ri
dg

nor
th

R
u
g
by

O
sw

es
tr

y

Local Authority

D
ir

e
c
tl

y
 S

ta
n

d
a

r
d

is
e

d
 R

a
te

 p
e

r
 1

0
0

,0
0

0
 P

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

a
g

e
d

 u
n

d
e

r
 1

5

Female 95% CI Male 95% CI West Midlands Females West Midlands Males England M England F DSR

 Source: West Midlands Public Health Observatory

 Although the rates for unintentional injury in children aged under 15 
years are low in Herefordshire there is still progress to be made, 
particularly in relation to falls injury.  

3.3.4 The table below shows that young boys who live in the most deprived 
quartile of Super Output Areas in Herefordshire have significantly raised 
rates of hospital in-patient admissions for injuries caused by falls. Work is 
needed to establish what could be achieved in these areas to reduce the 
rate of injury experienced here to that experienced across the rest of the 
County. 

59



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

48

Table 47: Directly standardised rates of in-patient hospital admissions 
for injures from falls in boys aged 0-14 (Herefordshire 
residents, 2002-2007) by deprivation quartile

Deprivation quartile 
(Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 2004) 

Rate per 1,000 
population 

UCL LCL 

1 (most affluent) 5.63 4.69 6.56 

2 5.85 4.88 6.82 

3 5.30 4.38 6.22 

4 (most deprived) 8.54 7.45 9.63 

 Source: Herefordshire PCT: Public Health Department 

3.4 FALLS AND HIP FRACTURES IN OLDER PEOPLE

3.4.1 Injury from falls in older people is a particularly important issue for 
Herefordshire where the age structure of the population is slightly older 
than elsewhere. Every year around 35% of people over the age of 65, 
and 45% of people over the age of 80, will have a fall. Of those that fall 
between 20-30% will suffer moderate to severe injuries. 

3.4.2 Falls are a major cause of disability and the leading cause of mortality 
resulting from injury in people aged over 75. But falls can also result in 
an increased fear of falling and a loss of confidence in being able to move 
around, a reduced ability to carry out daily activities, increased 
dependency, increased isolation and depression. Falls prevention not only 
reduces injury and death but promotes healthy and independent living in 
the older age groups. 

3.4.3 A history of falls is a good predictor of hip fracture in older people, but 
this can be difficult to establish unless the fall is reported. Many injuries 
will not be serious enough to require in-patient hospital admission but 
may require treatment through the GP, a minor injuries unit, or an 
outpatient attendance.  

3.4.4 The recent Department of Health publication A recipe for care - not a 
single ingredient, states that if every SHA in England invested £2m in 
falls and bone health early intervention services they could each save 
£5m in one year (£3m net) in reduced NHS costs by preventing 400 hip 
fractures. This would not only save lives but would maintain the 
independent living of hundreds of older people. 

3.4.5 The West Midlands region has a high rate of hospital admissions for hip 
fracture - just significantly higher than the rate for England as a whole - 
in both men and women over the age of 65 years. 

60



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

49

Table 48: Hospital in-patient admissions for fracture of femur, over 65 
years, by Government Office Region  2004 - 2005 

Directly Standardised Admission Rates for Fracture of Femur (ICD10 S72)

, by Government Office Regions, Over 65s, Males & Females, 2004-05

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

South West West

Midlands

North East East of

England

East Midlands South East North West Yorkshire &

the Humber

London

Government Office Region

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

is
e

d
 r

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

Males

Females

England Males

England Females

 Source: West Midlands Public Health Observatory 

3.4.6 The West Midlands also has the highest mortality rate of any Government 
Office Region from hip fractures in people aged between 65 and 84 
years, and also among women aged 85 and over. 

Table 49: Death rate from fracture of femur, age 65-84 years, by West 
Government Office Regions  2004 to 2005 

Directly Standardised Rates for Deaths from Fracture of Femur (ICD10 S72) by GOR,

 Age 65-84, 2003-2005 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

YORKSHIRE

AND THE

HUMBER

SOUTH

WEST

SOUTH

EAST 

EAST OF

ENGLAND

LONDON NORTH

EAST

NORTH

WEST

EAST

MIDLANDS

WEST

MIDLANDS

Government Office Region

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

Males

Females

England Females

England Males

 Source: West Midlands Public Health Observatory 

61



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

50

3.4.7 In Herefordshire the rate of hip fracture is high. In 2005/06 there were 
355 hospital admissions for hip fractures in both men and women aged 
over 65 living in Herefordshire. This translates to a rate of 780 per 
100,000 people which is significantly higher than the regional or England 
average of 565 per 100,000 people.

3.4.8 The hospital admission rate for hip fracture was particularly high in 
2005/06 in Herefordshire, and has generally been higher than in the rest 
of England in recent years. 

Table 50:  Hospital in-patient admissions for Hip Fracture by year 
(2002 to 2007) 

 Source: Herefordshire PCT: Public Health Department 

3.4.9 This high rate of hip fracture may have something to do with the rural 
nature of Herefordshire County. However comparison with other ‘very 
similar’ rural areas (defined by ONS as mid Devon, Mendip, North 
Shropshire and Kings Lynn and West Norfolk local authorities) shows 
Herefordshire still to be well above their average rate of 666 hip fractures 
per 100,000 people.

3.5 FALLS PREVENTION IN OLDER PEOPLE

3.5.1 The National Services Framework for Older People (2001) introduced a 
10 year programme of improvement to be implemented through health 
and social care partners. Standard 6 of this framework aimed to reduce 
the number of falls which lead to serious injury whilst ensuring effective 
treatment and rehabilitation for those who have fallen. 

Directly Standardised Hip Fracture Admission Rate 2002/03 - 2006/07

Year - - - - - - - England Average Rate 2005/06

2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07
0

100

300

400

500

600

700

200

800

900

R
a
te

 (
p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
)

62



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

51

 Since then considerable work has been done to establish what 
interventions might be useful in reducing the incidence of falls in older 
people which suggest that a multifaceted approach is most effective.

3.5.2 Primary prevention can take place at the general population level with an 
increase in public awareness, increasing home safety awareness and 
improved health behaviour including the promotion of physical activity 
and improved diet to improve bone health in older people. These sorts of 
population based approaches have been shown to produce relative 
reductions in falls related injury of between 6 and 33%, and to achieve 
normative changes across whole populations. 

3.5.3 Older people who have already had a fall resulting in a moderate injury 
may have been notified through an attendance at their GP, minor injuries 
unit or hospital Accident and Emergency Department. These individuals 
should receive a more targeted approach including an information pack,  
review of medications if they are on multiple medications, an assessment 
of the risk of osteoporosis, a review of previous falls and their causes, 
and a home visit assessment if that is appropriate and acceptable to the 
individual.  Different practice exists within the county and a county-wide 
audit would be useful to establish the current management of these 
admissions, as a first stage in service improvement. 

3.5.4 Where appropriate, referral should be made to a specialised falls service 
to reduce the likelihood of further falls and injury. 

3.5.5 In Herefordshire PCT the appointment of a Health Improvement Manager 
focusing on the needs of Older People has recently been made. This, 
together with the post of Specialised Falls Nurse for the County will 
provide a strong basis on which to build a county wide falls prevention 
programme, with population and individual based interventions. 

3.6 RECOMMENDATIONS

Carry out county wide audit to establish action triggered when an 
older person attends with falls related injury. 

To work with partners to reduce hospital admission rates for hip 
fractures.
Identify with partners opportunities to reduce falls related injuries in 
young children in the most deprived areas of the County 

63



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

52

64



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

53

CHAPTER 4 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND HEALTH

4.1 SUMMARY

4.1.1 Climate change is now acknowledged internationally, nationally and 
locally as a threat to the health of our population.  Action is needed to 
prepare for changes in climate and the impact that this will have on 
health, through changing patterns of disease, global impacts on food and 
population mobility and through increased severe weather events that 
have direct local impact. Action is also needed to reduce the emissions of 
greenhouse gases, in particular carbon dioxide, to minimise the changes 
experienced in the future and to reduce the levels of pollution with 
adverse consequences for health. This will need the involvement of 
individuals, communities, organisations and governments, and the NHS 
must play its full part in developing this agenda. 

4.2 BACKGROUND TO CLIMATE CHANGE

4.2.1 Sir David King, the Government’s Chief Scientific Advisor has described 
climate change as the most important threat to public health for the 21st

century.

4.2.2 Although it is impossible to say for certain if any particular weather event 
is the result of chance or part of an underlying trend, the summer of 
2007 has given us a good opportunity to experience what the impact of 
global climate change might be in Herefordshire in the future. 

4.2.3 This summer a shift in the north Atlantic jet stream has meant that 
Europe has been split by climate. To the south there has been a 
succession of heat waves, each more intense than the last whilst to the 
north of a line running roughly from the Pyrenees to Bulgaria, three 
humid months have been punctuated by violent storms and enormous 
cloudbursts. In Herefordshire this led to some of the worst flooding in 
living memory.  

4.2.4 The earth has a global temperature of about 140C, determined by the 
energy of the sun warming the atmosphere and the earth’s surface, 
balanced against the emission of infra-red radiation which acts to cool 
the earth. Some of this infra-red radiation can be absorbed by gases in 
the air and re-radiated back to the earth, an effect known as the 
greenhouse effect. This has been going on naturally for millions of years 
and without it our planet would be about 300C cooler than it is now, so 
totally uninhabitable.  

65



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

54

4.2.5 The fact that global temperatures change over time is also well known. 
Gas measurements taken from ice cores drilled from the ice sheets in 
Greenland have shown that global temperature fluctuations of around 
90C have occurred many times, moving the earth from the ice ages to the 
interglacial periods like the one we are experiencing now.   However, 
human activity, particularly since the industrial revolution, has had a 
marked impact on the concentration of the main greenhouse gases 
present in our atmosphere. The most important of these is carbon 
dioxide.  The concentration of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere has, like 
temperature, fluctuated with time. Over the last half million years the 
earth has cycled several times between ice age to warm period, and 
along with the 90C temperature shift experienced between these two 
states the sea level differences have been around 100m.

Figure 6: Carbon Dioxide and Temperature variation 

 Source Hadley Centre for Climate Prediction & Research 

4.2.6 Over the last 12,000 years our climate has remained very stable, allowing 
civilisations to prosper. While the concentration of carbon dioxide in the 
average warm period reached about 220 parts per million (ppm), since 
the Industrial revolution it has been rising rapidly. Current levels have 
reached 380 ppm. The graph above shows that this concentration is 
different from that of the last half a million years, and that this difference 
will increase dramatically if nothing is done to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions in the next 50 years. 

4.3 THE IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON HEALTH

4.3.1 The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) published its 
latest report in April 2007 stating that it was now too late to avert some 

66



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

55

degree of climate change. It predicts a mean temperature increase for 
the UK of between 2.5 and 30C by the end of the century.  

4.3.2 Rising global temperatures will have global implications, with increasing 
crop failures causing a rise in world food prices or even food shortages, 
and an increasing potential for armed conflict over decreasing natural 
resources. These global impacts will affect us all but there will also be 
some direct effects on the UK. 

4.3.3 Increasing temperatures will be important in Herefordshire, a rural 
county in which farming is an important activity. Although only 6.7% of 
people in the county are involved in agriculture (compared to the11.6% 
employed in the health and social work sectors) agriculture provides the 
backbone to the county and has been identified as the most climate 
sensitive of all the economic sectors.

4.3.4 The IPCC have suggested that at a 30C temperature increase, the 
incidence of skin cancer and cataracts in the UK population would 
increase by 5,000 and 2,000 per year respectively. Warmer summers 
could also lead to marked increases in food poisoning and an increase in 
vector borne diseases such as malaria.  Skin cancer rates are already 
high in the county partly due to high numbers of agricultural workers. 

4.3.5 Also of concern is the increase in abnormal and extreme weather events 
that we should expect, bringing increases in death, disability, trauma and 
distress that are associated with them. With average temperature 
increasing we should not only expect to see periods of sudden heavy rain 
and flooding, such as we have experienced this year, but also more 
frequent and more severe heat waves.  

Figure 7: European summer temperatures 2003 

 Source: Hadley Centre for Climate Prediction & Research 

67



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

56

4.3.6 Heatwaves have serious consequences for health.  In 2003 Europe 
experienced a severe heat wave with temperatures in the UK reaching 
38.50C. Across Europe the heat, together with a lack of preparedness 
caused more than 35,000 deaths and economic losses in excess of 
£7.6bn. In England there was a 17% increase in mortality, which rises to 
23% if only those aged 75 and over are considered. The most severe 
effects in the UK were experienced in the South East, with the Midlands 
and Herefordshire remaining relatively temperate. However, if the 
increase in mortality had been replicated across Herefordshire there 
would have been an additional 320 deaths across the county, 296 of 
which would have been people aged over 75 years. 

4.3.7 The lesson from 2003 is that preparedness is the key to preventing this 
impact on our health from rare events such as extreme heat wave. If 
climate predictions are correct, the abnormal temperatures experienced 
in 2003 will soon become the norm. The figure below shows that, if the 
modelled predictions are correct (shown in red) the temperatures 
recorded in the UK during 2003 (the black line) will become the norm for 
UK summers by 2040 and seem cool by 2080. 

Figure 8: Predicted modelled temperature change versus measured 
temperature 

 Source: Hadley Centre for Climate Prediction & Research 

4.3.8 Adaptation to the inevitable change in our climate is an urgent 
requirement and in public health terms this needs to be seen in the 
context of population risk where the most at risk are the most vulnerable 
groups.  The government has prioritised heatwave response planning in 
recent years.  The Department of Health published a national Heatwave 
plan for England in 2006. This identified certain groups that are 
particularly at risk during a heatwave. These include: 

68



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

57

Older people, especially those aged over 75, and/or living on their 
own or in a care home; 

People suffering from mental ill health, those with dementia, and 
those who rely on help from others to manage day to day activities; 

People who are bed bound; 
People taking certain types of medication; 
Babies and young children, especially those under four years of age. 

4.3.9 During prolonged periods of extremely hot weather, heat exhaustion and 
heatstroke are serious risks, can occur suddenly and can lead to organ 
failure, brain damage or death, with the most vulnerable groups being at 
greatest risk. 

4.3.10 The core elements of the national plan include a ‘Heat-Health watch’ 
system that is operated by the Met Office between June and September 
which will then trigger response from the Department of Health. PCTs 
and Social Services are asked to identify those most at risk and ensure 
advice, preventative measures and if necessary, extra help is provided. 
As well as the statutory sector, the voluntary sector, local communities 
and families will be important in providing this help where it is needed. 
Advice and information will also be important for both the public and 
health and social care professionals.  In Summer 2006, the heatwave 
alert escalation was activated and colleagues worked together on an 
appropriate response. 

4.3.11 Preparedness for such events is essential and in Herefordshire, plans are 
underway to develop an emergency planning scenario event for April 
2008, based around a prolonged and severe heat wave. 

4.3.12 Another example of extreme weather events is flooding, and in Summer 
2007 Herefordshire experienced the worst flooding for some years.  This 
highlighted the need for agencies to work closely together in response 
and recover phases, and also that rural areas are particularly vulnerable 
to problems of access at times of emergency.  Although there was no 
associated morbidity or mortality, the emergency evacuation of a nursing 
home demonstrated that services can be put under immediate pressure. 

4.4 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

4.4.1 There is wide agreement that the need to take action on climate change 
is urgent. Reducing the human impact on global temperature means 
making substantial reductions in the production of greenhouse gases in 
general and of carbon dioxide in particular.  The Government has, in its  
2003 Energy White Paper committed the UK to reducing CO2 emissions to 
20% below 1990 levels by 2010 and 60% below by 2050. The draft 
Climate Change Bill proposes to put this into statute.  

69



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

58

4.4.2 The NHS is also subject to the same reduction, set by the Department of 
Health in 2001 and specifically related to energy consumption in 
buildings. By 2010 NHS England should have achieved a 15% reduction 
in primary energy consumption, but it is already struggling to meet this 
first step along the way.  

4.4.3 Each of the following accounts for about ¼ of the UK’s carbon emissions. 

Energy used to heat, light and run our homes 

Transport for shopping, leisure and work 
Production, transportation and retail of food 
Production, transportation and retail of non food goods. 

4.4.4 This means a whole systems approach is needed. Sustainable 
development is an approach where environmental, social, political and 
economic issues are taken together and provides a helpful framework in 
which to consider tackling climate change. Securing the Future is the UK 
Government’s strategy for sustainable development and identifies four 
priority areas: 

Sustainable consumption and production 
Climate change and energy 

Protecting natural resources and enhancing the environment 
Creating sustainable communities and a fairer world. 

4.4.5 These four areas are all closely interconnected. For example local 
procurement of fruit and vegetables, of particular relevance to the 
county, contributes to the economic sustainability of local communities as 
well as saving transport emissions and costs. The NHS, as one of the 
largest employers in the county is in a prime position to act as a role 
model in this area. 

4.4.6 Commitment in the Choosing Health White Paper has supported the 
Sustainable Development Commission to develop a Good Corporate 
Citizen Assessment Model so that NHS organisations can assess and 
improve their contribution to the environment as well as the local 
economy and community. This simple, on-line, assessment test is 
organised around six topic areas (transport, procurement, facilities 
management, employment and skills, community engagement and new 
buildings) and provides a useful benchmark for NHS organisations to 
assess their own contributions to sustainable development, and monitor 
improvements in a strategic way. 

4.4.7 Sustainability is already on the agenda for Herefordshire PCT and, 
together with Herefordshire Council, a Sustainable Transport and Active 
Travel plan is being developed. NHS staff, patients and visitors will travel 
25 billion passenger km in a year. Each year 1.4 million people will miss, 
turn down or choose not to seek medical help due to transport 

70



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

59

difficulties. And lack of physical activity costs the NHS £10.9 billion per 
year.

4.4.8 The PCT Travel plan aims to lead by example in encouraging staff and 
visitors to get out of cars and onto bikes and public transport. It will 
include a review of potential on-site walking or cycle paths, improved 
public transport links and car sharing schemes. A staff questionnaire has 
already been circulated at PCT Headquarters at Belmont, the largest site 
in terms of PCT staff, and will include other sites in due course. 

4.5 HEREFORDSHIRE DECLARATION ON CLIMATE CHANGE

4.5.1 Herefordshire PCT is part of the Herefordshire Partnership and is a 
signatory of the Hereford Declaration on Climate Change. This 
Declaration on Climate Change states that climate change is 
acknowledged as one of the key drivers of change within our 
communities now and for generations to come.  

 The declaration signatories acknowledge that: 

Evidence continues to mount that climate change is occurring and 
that it will have far reaching effects on Herefordshire’s economy, 
environment and society. 

 The declaration signatories endorse the: 

Herefordshire Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan as a way of 
helping to combat the negative impacts of climate change 
Recognition that businesses, organisations and individuals need to 
adapt
Fact that there are benefits to combating climate change such as 
opportunities to reduce our energy costs and improve our local 
environment
Encouragement of others to follow our example. 

 The declaration signatories commit to: 

Work with Herefordshire Environment Partnership to produce and 
implement a Carbon Management Action Plan and Adaptation 
Management Action Plan 
Monitor our CMAP and AMAP and report these results to HEP 
Investigate all opportunities for reducing our ecological footprint and 
ensure that climate change awareness is part of our daily business 
decisions and actions. 

Work with other partners where appropriate to achieve low carbon 
solutions.

71



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

60

4.5.2 Herefordshire Partnership, through its Herefordshire Environment 
Partnership, developed Herefordshire’s Climate Change Strategy, 2020
Vision, in 2006. The key elements to this strategy are: 

Raising awareness and understanding of the issues so that people 
can make informed choices about their behaviour 
Helping local education centres, especially schools, to include climate 
change as part of their curricula 
Encouraging individuals and organisations to take responsibility for 
their actions 
Encouraging energy efficiency both in the home and in the 
workplace

Sharing the good practice from around Herefordshire 

4.5.3 In developing our work to meet the public health challenge of climate 
change, it is important that the PCT plays its full part in delivery of 
Herefordshire’s climate change strategy. 

4.6 RECOMMENDATIONS

Work with the Herefordshire Environmental Partnership to monitor 
progress against the Carbon Management Action Plan and 
Adaptation Management Action Plan  
The PCT should take the Good Corporate Citizen Self Assessment 
Test and routinely monitor progress, becoming a role model for 
sustainability.

72



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

61

CHAPTER 5 
HEALTH PROTECTION

5.1 SUMMARY

5.1.1 Immunisation and screening uptake rates are generally average but 
every effort should be made to increase uptake.  In particular, flu and 
MMR immunisation should be encouraged, and breast screening round 
length time should be monitored.  Pandemic flu development work 
continues and is important, given the serious health consequences of a 
pandemic.  Emergency planning activity has had a high profile this year 
and this will need to continue to be supported as the work moves into 
the Council as a key part of closer working. 

5.2 CERVICAL SCREENING

5.2.1 The 5-year coverage rate is 81.5%, compared with a national standard of 
80%.  In 2006, the variation between General Practices in terms of 
coverage rates narrowed.  The range was 76-86%, compared with a 
2005 range of 66.2-83%. 

5.2.2 The time from screening to result notification fell in the 2006/07, and this 
has been attributed to staff shortages during the summer period, and 
changes in administration systems.  Two particular GP surgeries are 
outliers in terms of turnaround times (44% and 31% at four weeks), and 
these will be investigated further. 

Table 51: Time from screening to result notification

Hereford
National Standard 2004/05 2005/06 2006/2007 

80% to receive results 
within four weeks 

18.4% 86.8% 79% 

100% to receive results 
within six weeks 

56.4% 98.7% 96.7% 

 Source:  KC53 coverage: Sexual Health Service, Herefordshire PCT 

5.2.3 Incidence of and mortality from cervical screening remains relatively low 
and stable: 

73



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

62

Table 52: Incidence of invasive cervical cancer (ICD10 C53) 2001-05 
Herefordshire 

Year Number of cases 

2001 5 

2002 4 

2003 6 

2004 6 

2005 4 
 Source:  Cancer Information Service 

Table 53: Incidence of invasive cervical cancer for pooled years 2001-
2003, 2002-2004, 2003-2005

Confidence 
Intervals Total

cases
Average

cases
per year

Directly Age 
Standardised

Rate
(European Standard 
Population, Females 

only)

Lower Upper 

Herefordshire
2001-2003
2002-2004
2003-2005

15
16
16

5.0
5.3
5.3

5.62
5.43
5.52

2.65
2.51
2.56

8.60
8.36
8.49

West Midlands
2001-2003
2002-2004
2003-2005

848
800
772

282.7
266.7
257.3

9.51
9.02
8.85

8.85
8.37
8.21

10.17
9.67
9.50

 Source:  Cancer Information Service 

Table 54: Mortality from cervical/uteri cancer (ICD10 C53)

No. of deaths West Midlands Herefordshire

2001-2003 312 6 

2002-2004 311 6 

2003-2005 293 6 

5.3 BREAST SCREENING

5.3.1 The NHS Breast Screening Programme sets a minimum standard of 90% 
of eligible women whose first offered appointment is within 36 months of 
their previous screen.  For the Hereford and Worcester service, this 
standard was exceeded in 2004-2005 (90.7%), and 2005-2006 (95.8%).  
In 2006-2007, this fell to 90.4% and has decreased in the first two 
quarters of 2007 (62.8% and 72.9%).  However, the percentage being 
offered an appointment within 38 months was 98.6% in the first quarter 
and 98.9% in the second.  Delivery of a fourth mobile unit to the service 
was made in August 2007, which was later than anticipated.  It is 
anticipated that the standard will be met by the end of October 2007. 

74



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

63

5.3.2 The coverage rate for women aged 53-64 years in 2004-2005 was 
83.7%, and in 2005-2006 82.99%, compared with West Midlands rates of 
77.95% and 77.97% respectively. 

5.4 NEWBORN HEARING SCREENING PROGRAMME

5.4.1 In 2007, the local service received its first Quality Assurance visit and 
detailed feedback is still awaited.  Verbal feedback, however, was 
positive.  Screening was offered to 99.9% of the target population, 
compared with a national standard of 99%. 

5.4.2 Screening outcome was set by 3 months in 97.8% of the screening 
population, compared with a national target of 95%.  However, outcomes 
set by 5 weeks were just below target at 94.6% and by 4 weeks at 
90.7%.  The figures for the latest quarter suggest the target will be met 
in 2007-2008. 

5.5 IMMUNISATION

5.5.1 MMR

 In 2006-2007, the percentage of two year olds who were vaccinated for 
MMR was 83.7%.  This shows a rise against the 2004-2005 figure of 
78.3%, and the 2005-2006 figure of 81.5% but falls short of the national 
standard of 95% which is required to achieve herd immunity. 

 Although uptake is disappointingly low, it should be noted that it varies 
significantly between practices.  Of the 24 GP practices in Herefordshire, 
3 achieved coverage rates of 95% or over; 5 achieved 90-94%; and only 
3 were below 75%.  There is no simple correlation between uptake and 
deprivation, and the practice which serves the most deprived section of 
the South Wye community achieved 83.3% coverage. 

5.5.2 Flu

 The winter uptake programme in 2006/2007 was slightly lower than it 
was in 2005/2006.  2005/2006 uptake was boosted by national press 
stories about the threat of bird flu, and this effect diminished by 
2006/2007.  The uptake for those aged 65 years and over was 73% 
compared with 78% in 2005/2006.  The national target is 70%. 

 The under 65 years rate seems low for Herefordshire, at 29.3%, 
compared with an England average of 42.1%.  This relates only to “at 
risk” groups under 65 years, who are the only younger people 
recommended for vaccination.  However, further analysis of this 
apparently low uptake has shown that one practice entered its entire 
practice population as the denominator figure, rather than the “at risk” 
population.  This gives an incorrect percentage uptake figure of 4.9%, 

75



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

64

which depresses the county figure significantly.  If this practice is 
excluded from the county figures, the Herefordshire average is 49.2% 
which compares well with the national average. 

 In January 2007, PCTs were asked to offer flu vaccination to poultry 
workers and this was done, via employers, and using a DEFRA database.  
The uptake was disappointingly low at 16%.  However, the PCT 
investigated low uptake further and it seemed workers felt it was too late 
in the year to be vaccinated and also that they were unconvinced of the 
need for vaccination, given that there was no bird flu outbreak.

5.6 PANDEMIC FLU

5.6.1 Since last year, planning and preparedness for a possible outbreak of 
pandemic flu has continued locally, regionally, and nationally.  Locally, a 
Herefordshire Pandemic Influenza Committee meets regularly bringing 
together partners from across the health community as well as all 
Category 1 responders under the Civil Contingencies Act.  A multi-agency 
workshop was held once regional guidance was published in draft form, 
and a scenario exercise is planned for November 2007.  Nationally, a 
Department of Health Czar for pandemic flu has been appointed and she 
has met with flu leads regionally, updating the knowledge base and 
building networks.  A regular newsletter is produced and this is actioned 
locally.

5.6.2 Worldwide, the number of human cases of avian influenza fell slightly in 
the first 7 months of 2007.  Mortality rates, once infected, remain high. 

Table 55: Cumulative number of confirmed human cases of avian 
influenza A (H5N1) reported to WHO

Laboratory
confirmed cases 

Deaths

2003 4 4 

2004 46 32 

2005 98 43 

2006 115 79 

up to 14/08/07 57 35 

Total 320 193 
Source:  World Health Organisation at www.who.int/csr/disease/avian influenza/en/

 The Department of Health has recommended again in 2007-2008 that 
poultry workers locally receive vaccination against seasonal flu, to reduce 
the chances of a mutation of a new influenza strain in the body of a 
poultry worker who is exposed to both avian and seasonal flu at the 
same time. 

76



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

65

 Throughout the year, local training on infection control and pandemic flu 
has been provided; national guidance for education settings has been 
cascaded; and information has been made available to the general public 
via local media. 

5.7 EMERGENCY PLANNING

5.7.1 The Civil Contingencies Act of 2004 sets out police force boundaries as 
the unit within which partner agencies will plan, respond, and co-operate 
on matters of civil resilience.  The West Mercia Local Resilience Forum 
(LRF) has been established to ensure the requirements of the 2004 
legislation are met, and to provide strategic direction for emergency 
planning across Shropshire, Herefordshire and Worcestershire.  The LRF 
has continued to develop during the past year at both strategic and 
tactical levels.  A dedicated website for sharing information between the 
public, media and partners has been set up at 
www.westmerciaprepared.org.  The LRF has a number of sub-groups and 
the Emergency Planning Officer for the Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
PCTs has been active in these. 

5.7.2 At the county level, a group meets regularly to consider response 
arrangements.  This is the Herefordshire Emergency Response to a Major 
Incident Team (HERMIT), and PCT representation is high.  The Primecare 
(out of hours GP provider service) manager also attends the group.  In 
an emergency, this group would operate as Silver command and so its 
effective functioning in “peace time” is an important part of our 
preparedness activity. 

5.7.3 During the last year, the PCT Major Incident Plan has been reviewed, and 
amended to include the former PCT Emergency Plan for Provider 
Services.  This was approved by the PCT Board in March 2007. 

5.7.4 The Civil Contingencies Act required business continuity plans to be in 
place, and the first PCT Business Continuity Plan was approved in 
November 2006.  Work continues with primary care practices and other 
independent practitioners to produce business continuity plans. 

5.7.5 It is essential that emergency plans are tested, and that learning from 
the tests is maximised.  In 2006/2007, a number of exercises took place: 

Exercise Cold Play (November 2006).  This was a desk top exercise, 
based on pandemic flu; 
Exercise Mitre (January 2007).  This focused on an extreme flooding 
event;

Exercise Winter Willow (February 2007).  This was a national exercise, 
in which the LRF participated as an observer; 

77



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

66

Exercise Mappa (March 2007).  This was a communications exercise 
to test the arrangements for cascading vital information in the event 
of an emergency. 
Exercise Madrid (March 2007).  This was designed to test and raise 
awareness of business continuity issues. 

5.7.6 During 2006/2007, the PCT has been in discussion with the Council and 
others about the possible formation of a Public Service Trust (PST) to 
bring together the commissioning and public health functions of the two 
organisations in order to improve service delivery and outcome.  As part 
of this work, a sub-group on Public Health was established, led by the 
Associate Director of Health Improvement at the PCT.  This group has 
reviewed emergency planning arrangements within the PCT, Hereford 
Hospitals Trust, and the Council and concluded that these would be made 
more resilient by creating a single health emergency planner post, 
managed within the Council’s Emergency Planning Team, via a 
Memorandum of Understanding. 

 Recruitment to this post was made in October 2007. 

5.8 RECOMMENDATIONS

To monitor the progress of emergency planning for health after its 
relocation to the Council Emergency Planning Team. 

To continue to play a full role in the organisation of, and participation 
in, emergency planning exercises. 
To encourage the uptake of seasonal influenza vaccination by poultry 
workers.
To take action to ensure primary care data returns on vaccination 
uptake are robust. 

78



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

67

CHAPTER 6 
LAST YEAR’S RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 SUMMARY

 Work has taken place in all the areas identified in last year’s report.  
However, progress has been variable.  In particular, NAATs test for 
chlamydia, the development of primary care services in South Wye, and 
identifying the health needs of ethnic priorities remain important. 

6.2 “Maintain and develop a sun safe health promotion programme, 
with a particular focus on men.”

 This work has continued throughout the year, and information was 
available at the first men’s health day to be held in Herefordshire, based 
at the new Asda store. 

6.3 “Undertake a scoping study on falls prevention work”.
 This work is reported on in Chapter 3 of this report. 

6.4 “Work with partners to improve cycling safety”.
 Closer work with partners at the Council has been a priority this year.  

One result of this has been that sun screen and “safe-in-the-sun” advice 
is now included in the packs given to all those who complete the cycle 
training course.  Another has been the involvement of the PCT as a 
partner in supporting “Connect 2”, a bid to develop a safe cycle crossing 
of the Wye, connecting to Rotherwas.  Another has been to develop PCT 
support for those who wish to cycle to work.  The public health 
department is learning from the experience of the Council here and a 
travel plan is underway which will be one mechanism to take this work 
forward.

6.5 “Introduce NAAT testing for chlamydia screening as a matter of 
urgency”.

 As described in Chapter 2 above, NAATs testing is now available out of 
county, and a staged approach to in-county provision has been adopted.  
This remains a priority. 

6.6 “Encourage the use of brief interventions around smoking 
cessation”

 This work has continued throughout the year, through the Stop Smoking 
Team’s training programme. 

79



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

68

6.7 “Encourage the use of brief interventions around sensible 
alcohol consumption, especially aimed at men”.

 This work has continued throughout the year, through the Alcohol 
Awareness” programme run by the Public Health Department.  This runs 
monthly and trains workers to deliver brief interventions. 

6.8 “Develop dedicated capacity for a work programme to challenge 
obesity”.

 A part-time Health Improvement Manager for obesity was recruited to 
the public health department, taking up post in December 2006. 

6.9 “Increase provision of primary health services in South Wye”.
 This work remains a priority.  In early 2007, a pilot drop-in well-being 

service was offered from the health bus, sited by a primary school in 
South Wye.  This has allowed learning about local need and discussions 
are underway about the possibility of nurse-led provision.  During 2007, a 
new dental access centre has been established in South Wye, based at 
the Asda site, and this will relieve dental access problems.  The Health 
Information Service has been moved to a new site at Asda and this too 
affords new access opportunities for those living in South Wye, giving 
easier access to healthy lifestyles and other health related information. 

6.10 “Increase health promotion services to the lesbian, gay, bi-
sexual and transgender (LGBT) population”.

 As described in Chapter 2, an outreach worker for this population was 
appointed in September 2007, after full consultation with the LGBT 
community. 

6.11 “Work with partners to identify the health needs of people from 
ethnic minorities, including encouragement of ethnic coding”.

 This work remains important, although work has taken place in the year 
both to encourage ethnic coding and to work as part of a local network 
to share what data is known. 

6.12 “Increase the uptake of flu and pneumococcal immunisation”
 Despite media campaigns, and personal letters in the case of poultry 

workers, uptake in 2006/2007 was disappointing.  This remains an 
important area of mainstream delivery, especially in the context of 
preparedness for pandemic flu. 

80



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

69

CHAPTER 7 
SUMMARY OF THIS YEAR’S 

RECOMMENDATIONS

Chapter 1

To continue to highlight the above average mortality rates due to stroke; all 
accidents; and land transport accidents, and to work with partners to address 
these.

To work with partners to improve the poor dental health of children. 

Chapter 2

To support the successful introduction of the national chlamydia screening 
programme. 
To focus attention on supporting pregnant women to stop smoking. 
To highlight locally the trends around alcohol abuse and to work with partners 
to reduce binge drinking, and hospital admissions, focusing particularly on 
young people and on people in more deprived areas. 

To maximise the primary care contribution to tackling obesity, especially in 
terms of BMI recording, and developing services in the community to which 
overweight and obese patients can be signposted.  The potential of health 
trainers in this area should also be maximised. 
To ensure that the Public Health Department continues to influence all areas 
of PCT activity in terms of understanding and challenging the links between 
high social deprivation and poor health outcome. 

Chapter 3

Carry out a county wide audit to establish action triggered when an older 
person attends with falls related injury. 
To work with partners to reduce hospital admission rates for hip fractures. 

Identify with partners opportunities to reduce falls-related injuries in young 
children in the most deprived areas of the County 

Chapter 4

Work with the Herefordshire Environmental Partnership to monitor progress 
against the Carbon Management Action Plan and Adaptation Management 
Action Plan
The PCT should take the Good Corporate Citizen Self Assessment Test and 
routinely monitor progress, becoming a role model for sustainability. 

81



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

70

Chapter 5

To monitor the progress of emergency planning for health after its relocation 
to the Council Emergency Planning Team. 
To continue to play a full role in the organisation of, and participation in, 
emergency planning exercises. 

To encourage the uptake of seasonal influenza vaccination by poultry 
workers.

To take action to ensure primary care data returns on vaccination uptake are 
robust. 

82



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

71

STATISTICAL APPENDIX

This section contains a selection of information relating to the resident population 
of Herefordshire.  Commentary boxes are included under some of the tables to 
highlight key points. 

Unless otherwise stated, the source of these statistics is the Compendium of 
Clinical Health Indicators updated in July 2007.  The data from this source 
generally concerns events in or up to 2005.  Other statistics from this source 
(including certain tables which have been included in previous Annual Reports but 
are not in this year’s selection) can be obtained from the Director of Public 
Health’s office. 

Copyright Notice

Material from the Compendium of Clinical Health Indicators is “Crown Copyright”, 
and extracts from this are reproduced under the terms of a “Click-Use” licence 
held by the Directorate of Public Health, Herefordshire PCT.  For further details, 
please see the HMSO website – http://www.hmso.gov.uk/click-use-home.htm

Crown copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the 
Controller of HMSO and the Queen’s Printer for Scotland.

Abbreviations used in the tables

E&W England & Wales 
WMR West Midlands Region 
ICD-10 International Classification of Diseases, tenth revision – see 

“technical notes” on next page 
95% CI 95% confidence interval.  Confidence intervals assess the level of 

uncertainty caused by chance variation.  Rates based on small 
numbers of observations (events) have wider confidence intervals 
than rates based on larger numbers of observations.  Essentially, the 
95% CI shows the range of values within which we are 95% certain 
that the true rate would lie if we were basing the calculated rate 
upon observations from an infinitely large sized population.  If the 
local area’s confidence intervals do not overlap with the national 
rate, it is likely that their indicator value is genuinely different from 
the national rate.  (see also “technical notes” on next page.) 

LL-UL Lower limit/upper limit (of a confidence interval range) 

83



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

72

Technical Notes

International Classification of Diseases:  From January 2001 information on 
cause of death has been coded to IDC10, the tenth revision of this 
classification system.  Standardised mortality ratios, directly age-standardised 
rates and years of life lost are usually presented as the pooled average of the 
last three years for which data are available.  In this report these are the years 
2003, 2004 and 2005. 

Age-standardised rates:  Age standardisation facilitates comparisons between 
different geographical areas by controlling for differences in the age structure 
of the populations.  A standardised rate is calculated either by applying the 
age-specific death rates for the population of interest to a standard population 
model (direct standardisation) or by applying the age-specific death rates for a 
standard population to the population structure of interest (indirect 
standardisation).  In all statistics from the National Centre for Health Outcomes 
Development website, directly age-standardised rates are standardised to the 
European Standard population; while for indirectly standardised rates 
(standardised mortality ratios or SMRs), the reference population is that of 
England & Wales. 

Standardised Mortality Ratio (SMR):   The ratio of the actual number of deaths 
in an area to the “expected” number of deaths if the age-standardised 
mortality rates for England & Wales were applied to the area’s population, 
multiplied by 100.  Therefore, the SMR for England & Wales as a whole is 100: 
higher figures indicate higher mortality and lower figures indicate lower 
mortality than England & Wales as a whole. 

Use of confidence intervals around population-based rates:   Most health 
professionals are aware that estimates based on a random sample of a 
population are subject to error due to sampling variability, and that confidence 
intervals can be used to describe the uncertainty in an estimate derived from a 
sample.  However, we have sometimes been asked why confidence intervals 
are also used around population-based rates, such as death rates, because 
these are based on actual counts relating to the whole population (and not on 
samples of the population).  This is because rates and percentages based on a 
full population count can also be considered as estimates subject to error.  For 
example, a rate observed in a single year can be considered as a sample or 
estimate of a true or underlying rate.  Random error may be particularly 
important when the rate or percentage is based on a small number of events 
in the numerator.  The larger the numerator, the better the observed rate will 
estimate the underlying rate.  Obviously, the rate observed in any one year 
does describe what actually happened in that year, but there is a danger of 
misinterpreting comparisons or trends.  We would want to try to base health 
policy decisions on the underlying rate, rather than on annual rates which may 
be subject to random fluctuation, and the use of confidence intervals can help 
us to interpret when changes or differences in rates are meaningful. 

84



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

73

Use of “comparator authorities”:  Following a national re-organisation of PCT 
boundaries, this year we have included a comparison with local authorities
of a similar socio-economic profile to Herefordshire, as well as a comparison 
with the West Midlands Region and England.  To compare authorities the 
Squared Euclidean Distance (SED) has been used as a similarity measure, 
based on six main census dimensions: demographic, household composition, 
housing, socio-economic, employment and industry sector.  Two Local 
Authorities X and Y, are said to be similar if the “distance” between them 
based on these Census characteristics is small. Two local authority areas are 
considered to be: 

o Extremely similar if the SED is less than 2.66646 ie within 1% of 
the total range. 

o Very similar if they have an SED of less than 2.5% of the range. 
o Similar if they have an SED of less than 5% of the range. 
o Somewhat similar if they have an SED of less than 10% of the 

range.
o Not similar if they are more than 10% of the total range apart. 

 Using these definitions, the local authority districts which are most similar to 
Herefordshire are Mid Devon (SED of 1.01); North Shropshire (SED 1.17), 
Mendip (SED 1.21) and Kings Lynn & West Norfolk (SED 1.37).  An average 
was calculated where possible from the health data of these four authorities 
and is shown in the “comparator authorities” column. 

85



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

74

DEMOGRAPHY

Table 1: Estimates of resident population of Herefordshire PCT mid-
2006: published August 2007 

       
age group males females persons % population WMR (%) E & W (%)

0-4 4451 4115 8566 4.8 5.9 5.7

5-14 10813 10230 21043 11.8 12.7 12.2

15-24 9855 9179 19034 10.7 13.3 13.0

25-44 20789 21366 42155 23.7 27.4 28.5

45-64 25155 25555 50710 28.5 24.5 24.4

65-74 9043 9684 18727 10.5 8.6 8.4

75-84 5414 7406 12820 7.2 5.7 5.7

85+ 1471 3290 4761 2.7 1.9 2.0

   All ages 86991 90825 177816 100 100 100

   

WMR Total 2636713 2728725 5365438  

E & W total 26178781 27211463 53390244  

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) publishes official estimates of population 
for local authority districts in England and Wales annually. Over the last few years 
ONS has undertaken a review of its methodologies, with particular focus on the 
international migration component of local population change. The new 
methodology has been used for the first time in the production of the 2006 mid-
year estimates (see Table 1 above) published in August 2007. At the same time, 
ONS published revised population estimates for the years mid-2002 to mid-2005. 
Changes to the methodology render all previous mid-year estimates obsolete. The 
revised Herefordshire estimate for mid-2005 is 177,300 – 1,500 or 0.8% fewer 
people than the original estimate of 178,800. 

Throughout this year’s Statistical Appendix health indicator data generally covers 
the three-year period 2003-2005. Due to the very recent release of the latest 
revised population estimates and the imminent deadline for publication of this 
Report it has been decided to persist with rates calculated against previous 
population estimates based on the old methodology. This will maintain consistency 
with previous Appendices. It is anticipated that future editions of the Statistical 
Appendix will calculate rates against population estimates derived from the new 
ONS methodology.

86



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

75

Table 2: Census population 2001

Age
group

Males Females Persons % 
population

WMR
(%)

E&W
(%)

0-4 4,816 4,673 9489 5.4 6.1 5.9 
5-14 11,491 10,844 22,335 12.8 13.4 12.9 
15-24 8,588 8,253 16,841 9.6 12.3 12.2 
25-44 22,783 22,991 45,774 26.2 28.1 29.1 
45-64 23,237 23,608 46,845 26.8 24.2 23.8 
65-74 8,355 9,263 17,618 10.1 8.5 8.4 
75-84 4,874 7,135 12,009 6.9 5.6 5.6 
85+ 1,199 2,752 3,951 2.3 1.8 1.9 

All ages 85,343 89,519 174,862 100 100 100 

WMR
total

2,527,111 2,692,197 5,267,308    

E&W
total

25,325,926 26,715,990 52,041,916    

Chart 1: Age Structure of Herefordshire population, 2006 mid-year 
estimate

87



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

76

Chart 2:  Percentage  Population Change by Age Group in 
Herefordshire,  mid-2001 – mid-2006 

88



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

77

FERTILITY AND BIRTH STATISTICS

Table 3: Birth statistics for Herefordshire
 Herefordshire Comparator

Authorities
WMR E&W 

Number of live births in 2005 1,654 - 65,956 645,835 
% live births by maternal age in 
2005:

    

11-15
16-19
20-24
25-34
35-39

40+

0.3
6.9
16.5
52.6
19.3
4.4

- 0.2 
8.0
21.6
53.2
14.0
2.9

0.2
6.8
18.9
54.6
16.1
3.4

Average number of stillbirths in 
2003-2005

5.7 - 388 3,569 

Stillbirth rate 2003-2005 (per 
1,000 total births) 

3.4 4.8 5.9 5.6 

95% CI 2.1-5.4 - 5.6-6.3 5.5-5.7 
Percent of births 2005 (live & 
still) under 1500 grams 

1.6 1.2 1.6 1.5 

95% CI 1.1-2.4 - 1.6-1.7 1.5-1.5 
Percent of births 2005 (live & 
still) under 2500 grams 

6.7 6.5 8.8 7.9 

95% CI 5.6-8.0 - 8.6-9.0 7.8-8.0 
General fertility rate in 2005  
(Live births per 1,000 women 
aged 15-44) 

52.8 58.8 60.7 58.4 

Table 4: Abortion statistics for Herefordshire
 Herefordshire WMR E&W 
 Number Rate per 

thousand
Rate per 
thousand

Rate per 
thousand

Abortion rate (and average number 
of abortions) by maternal age 2003-
2005

<18 yrs 45 13.5 18.6 17.8 
18-19 43 22.8 33.3 31.2 
20-24 90 24.4 32.4 31.4 
25-29 59 15.4 22.7 22.8 
30-34 52 9.8 14.8 14.7 

35+ 60 4.5 6.5 6.8 
All ages 350 11.2 17.1 16.8 

     
Percent of abortions by gestational 
age in 2005 

%  % % 

Gestation (weeks): 4-9 82.8 279 64.1 66.5 
10-12 13.4 45 23.7 22.8 

13+ 3.9 13 12.2 10.7 
     
Proportion of abortions carried out 
under NHS (directly or via agency) 
and privately in 2005 

%  % % 

NHS 89.9 303 90.1 84.4 
Non-NHS 10.1 34 9.9 15.6 

89



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

78

Table 5: Teenage conception rates (2003-2005)

Number of 
conceptions
2003-2005 

Rate
(per 1000 

women
aged 15-17) 

Average
conceptions per 

year

Herefordshire 331 32.9 110

WMR 14,622 45.8 4,874 

E&W 126,547 41.8 42,182 

No district local authority level data published. 

Source:  ONS and Teenage Pregnancy Unit – February 2007 

90



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

79

MORTALITY

Table 6: Death rates

  Herefordshire
PCT

Comparator
Authorities

WMR E&W 

Directly age-standardised death rates (per 
100,000 population) and observed number of 
deaths from all causes for the years 2003-2005 
pooled

   

Males Rate 705.57 706.73 799.29 762.40 
 (95% CI LL-UL) 679.35-731.79 - 793.74-804.83 760.68-764.11 
 Number of deaths 2,840 - 77,871 741,282 

    
Females Rate 472.74 492.47 547.84 533.96 
 (95% CI LL-UL) 453.95-491.53 - 543.85-551.84 532.71-535.21 
 Number of deaths 3,001 - 83,366 821,529 

    
Persons Rate 576.27 587.93 660.30 635.70 
 (95% CI LL-UL) 560.61-591.93 - 656.99-663.60 634.67-636.73 
 Number of deaths 5,841 - 161,237 1,562,811 

    

Death rates are adjusted to take account of the age structure of the population.  The age-
standardised death rates for Herefordshire (for males, females and persons) are all significantly 
lower than those for both the West Midlands and England and Wales. 

91



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

80

Table 7: Age Standardised Death Rates for selected causes 

Directly Standardised Rates (standardised to European Standard Population) 

Average annual age-standardised mortality rates per 100,000 population for the years 2003-2005 pooled 

  Herefordshire
PCT

Comparator
Authorities

WMR England 

All circulatory diseases (ICD10 
I00-I99) in persons under 75 

    

Males Death rate per 100,000 
per annum 

113.93 111.67 136.55 126.78 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 102.32-125.55 - 134.05-139.04 125.99-127.58 
 Number of deaths 379 - 11,532 97,743 

    
Females Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
50.21 51.49 60.08 56.44 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 42.84-57.58 - 58.48-61.67 55.93-56.94 
 Number of deaths 184 - 5,554 48,103 

    
Persons Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
81.35 80.83 97.22 90.45 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 74.53-88.17 - 95.76-98.69 89.98-90.91 
 Number of deaths 563 - 17,086 145,846 

    
All malignant neoplasms (ICD10 
C00-C97) in persons under 75 

    

Males Death rate per 100,000 
per annum 

112.67 117.54 137.05 132.64 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 101.13-124.21 - 134.55-139.56 131.82-133.45 
 Number of deaths 373 - 11,553 101,923 

    
Females Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
96.53 94.54 105.76 106.62 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 85.71-107.36 - 103.58-107.93 105.90-107.34 
 Number of deaths 321 - 9,257 86,423 

    
Persons Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
104.22 105.58 120.68 118.95 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 96.34-112.11 - 119.03-122.33 118.41-119.49 
 Number of deaths 694 - 20,810 188,346 

    
Suicide, self inflicted injury & 
injury undetermined, all ages 
(ICD10 X60-X84, Y10-Y34 excl. 
YY33.9) 

    

Males Death rate per 100,000 
per annum 

14.89 13.19 12.38 12.86 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 10.01-19.76 - 11.60-13.15 12.60-13.11 
 Number of deaths 39 - 994 9,867 

    
Females Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
3.87 4.81 4.10 4.28 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 1.40-6.35 - 3.66-4.54 4.14-4.43 
 Number of deaths 10 - 353 3,524 

    
Persons Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
9.29 8.92 8.17 8.48 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 6.56-12.01 - 7.72-8.61 8.34-8.63 
 Number of deaths 49 - 1,347 13,391 

92



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

81

Accidents (ICD10 V01-X59), all 
ages

    

Males Death rate per 100,000 
per annum 

30.59 26.75 23.41 21.46 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 23.72-37.46 - 22.37-24.45 21.13-21.78 
 Number of deaths 88 - 2,033 17,418 

    
Females Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
11.94 12.85 12.00 10.59 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 8.59-15.29 - 11.38-12.62 10.40-10.79 
 Number of deaths 69 - 1,805 14,151 

    
Persons Death rate per 100,000 

per annum 
21.26 19.60 17.74 16.01 

 (95% CI LL-UL) 17.46-25.06 - 17.14-18.33 15.82-16.19 
 Number of deaths 157 - 3,838 31,569 

These figures give the monitoring data for the “Our Healthier Nation” national targets.  For this 
reason, figures for England are given as a comparison rather than for E&W.  “Our Healthier Nation” 
is the national health strategy for England. 
Mortality rates for circulatory diseases in people aged under 75 and for cancers in people aged under 
75 in Herefordshire are significantly lower than the rates for England. 
Mortality rates for accidents in Herefordshire are still significantly higher than the rates for England 
for males and overall, though this is accounted for by male rather than female deaths. 

Table 8: Numbers of deaths from selected causes, 2003-2005 

2003 2004 2005

All malignant neoplasms 486 479 524
Lung cancer 80 83 75
Malignant melanoma of skin 13 2 3
Other malignant neoplasm of skin 2 2 2
Breast cancer 33 36 53
Cervical cancer 1 2 3
Coronary heart disease 368 346 351
Stroke 309 278 248
Accidents 47 53 57
Land transport accidents 17 16 14
Suicide, self inflicted injury and injury undetermined 12 18 19
Suicide and self inflicted injury 11 17 17

All causes, aged 0-14 11 14 18
All causes, aged 15-64 255 255 264
All causes, aged 65-74 340 328 309

All causes, all ages 1,948 1,884 2,009

93



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

82

Table 9: SMRs for Selected Causes of Death: 2003-2005 pooled

Herefordshire PCT Comparator
Authorities

WMR England 

 SMR 95% CI  SMR 95% CI SMR 

All malignant neoplasms 
(ICD10 C00-C97)

     

Males 88 82-95 93 102 101-103 100 
Females 91 85-98 90 99 98-101 100 
Persons 90 85-94 92 101 100-102 100 

     
Lung cancer (ICD10 C33-
C34)

     

Males 66 55-77 78 102 100-105 100 
Females 70 57-85 56 91 88-94 100 
Persons 67 59-77 69 98 96-100 100 

     
Malignant melanoma of 
skin (ICD10 C43)

     

Males 88 40-167 136 101 89-104 100 
Females 105 48-199 101 102 89-117 100 
Persons 96 57-151 120 102 93-111 100 

     
Other malignant neoplasm 
of skin (ICD10 C44)

     

Males 116 32-298 71 92 72-116 100 
Females 92 11-333 78 114 87-147 100 
Persons 107 39-233 73 101 84-119 100 

     
Breast cancer (female) 
(ICD10 C50)

     

Females 93 77-111 100 102 99-106 100 
     

Cervical cancer (ICD10 
C53)

     

Females 56 21-122 114 105 93-118 100 
     

Coronary Heart Disease 
(ICD10 I20-I25)

     

Males 96 89-104 99 103 101-104 100 
Females 88 80-97 106 100 98-101 100 
Persons 93 87-98 102 101 100-103 100 

     
Stroke (ICD10 I60-I69)      

Males 115 102-128 99 113 111-116 100 
Females 133 122-144 113 107 105-109 100 
Persons 126 117-134 107 110 108-111 100 

     
Accidents (ICD10 V01-
X59)

     

Males 133 106-164 120 111 106-115 100 
Females 117 91-149 100 122 116-127 100 
Persons 126 107-147 110 115 112-119 100 

     
Land Transport accidents 
(ICD10 V01-V89) 

     

Males 163 114-227 169 111 103-119 100 
Females 154 80-269 193 106 93-120 100 
Persons 161 118-214 174 110 103-117 100 

94



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

83

Suicide, self-inflicted 
injury & injury 
undetermined 
(ICD10 X60-X84, Y10-Y34, 

excl. Y33.9)

     

Males 112 80-153 101 96 90-102 100 
Females 77 37-142 98 95 86-106 100 
Persons 103 76-136 100 96 91-101 100 

     
Suicide & self-inflicted 
injury (ICD10 X60-X84)

     

Males 144 101-200 122 101 94-108 100 
Females 110 50-209 139 91 79-104 100 
Persons 136 99-182 126 98 92-105 100 

     
All causes (ages 0-14) 
(ICD10 A00-Y99) 

     

Males 122 81-178 103 130 122-138 100 
Females 95 54-154 88 119 110-128 100 
Persons 110 80-149 96 125 119-131 100 

     
All causes (ages 15-64) 
(ICD10 A00-Y99) 

     

Males 85 78-93 85 106 104-108 100 
Females 80 71-90 90 104 102-106 100 
Persons 83 77-89 87 105 104-106 100 

     
All causes (ages 65-74) 
(ICD10 A00-Y99) 

     

Males 86 79-93 88 106 104-108 100 
Females 90 82-99 85 102 100-104 100 
Persons 88 82-93 87 104 103-105 100 

     
All causes (all ages) 
(ICD10 A00-Y99) 

     

Males 93 89-96 93 105 104-106 100 
Females 91 87-94 95 103 102-103 100 
Persons 92 89-94 94 104 103-104 100 

       

Generally (considering both sexes together), mortality rates are significantly lower in Herefordshire 
than both nationally and regionally for all cancers, for lung cancer specifically, for coronary heart 
disease, and for all causes of death across all ages. 
They are significantly higher in Herefordshire than nationally for strokes and land transport 
accidents.

95



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

84

Table 10: Years of life lost for selected causes of death

Years of life lost up to age 75 (YLL), and directly standardised average annual YLL rates per 10,000 
European Standard population aged under 75 (SYLL rate), 2003-2005 (pooled) 

Herefordshire PCT Comparator 
Authorities

WMR E&W 

YLL % of 
total
YLL

SYLL
rate

SYLL rate   

All causes (ICD10 A00-Y99) 22612.5 100 433.5 427.1 493.8 472.9

All malignant neoplasms 
(ICD10 C00-C97) 

8058.5 36 143.7 141.3 159.1 156.9 

Lung cancer (ICD10 C33-C34) 1255.5 6 20.1 21.9 29.3 29.7 

All circulatory diseases 
(ICD10 I00-I99) 

5378.5 24 93.2 89.7 115.2 107.7 

Stroke (ICD10 I60-I69) 1246.5 6 21.2 16.0 22.5 20.5 

Coronary heart disease
(ICD10 I20-I25) 

2864.5 13 48.7 51.5 65.8 60.1 

Accidents (ICD10 V01-X59) 2484 11 59.8 60.2 38.3 39.0 

Land transport accidents 
(ICD10 V01-V89) 

1580 7 39.0 46.3 23.5 21.4 

Suicide and injury undetermined 
(ICD10 X60-X84, Y10-Y34 excl. 
Y33.9)

1471 7 34.4 31.0 27.2 28.2 

Looking at mortality data in this way gives more weight to deaths that occur at younger ages. 

96



Health in Herefordshire  
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2007 

85

INFANT AND CHILDHOOD MORTALITY RATES

Table 11: Perinatal Mortality Rate 
(Stillbirths and deaths under 7 days per 1000 total births in 2003-2005 
pooled) 

 Number Rate 95% CI 

Herefordshire 28 5.6 (3.8-8.0) 

Comparator

Authorities

- 7.5 - 

WMR 1931 9.8 (9.4-10.3) 

E&W 15676 8.2 (8.1-8.3) 

Table 12: Number of infant deaths and mortality rates in infancy  
(per 1000 live births in 2003-2005 pooled) 

Infant aged under 1 year 
(Infant mortality rate) 

Infant aged under 28 
days

(Neonatal mortality rate) 

Infant aged under 7 days 
(Early neonatal mortality 

rate)
 Number Rate 95% CI Number Rate 95% CI Number Rate 95% CI 

Herefordshire 25 5.0 (3.4-7.4) 13 2.6 (1.5-4.5) 11 2.2 (1.2-4.0) 

Comparator
Authorities

- 5.7 - - 3.5 - - 3.0 - 

WMR 1333 6.8 (6.5-7.2) 966 4.9 (4.6-5.3) 783 4.0 (3.7-4.3) 

E&W 9725 5.1 (5.0-5.2) 6662 3.5 (3.4-3.6) 5121 2.7 (2.6-2.8) 

Table 13: Childhood mortality rates in 2003-2005 pooled  
  (per 100,000), and Number of deaths 2003-2005 

 1-4 years 5-14 years 
 Number Rate 

(2003-2005 pooled) 
Number Rate 

(2003-2005 pooled) 

Herefordshire 3 14.2 15 22.7

Comparator

Authorities

- 15.8 - 7.9 

WMR 191 25.7 241 11.7 

E&W 1627 22.7 2294 11.6 

All these calculated rates for Herefordshire are based on relatively small and fluctuating numbers of 
events, and hence the confidence intervals around the rates can be wide. The sharp rise in the 
numbers of infant deaths in this three-year period will be closely monitored. 

97



98



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 6TH DECEMBER, 2007 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny) 
 on 01432 260239 

 

 
mentalhealthupdateDec070.doc  

 MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES - UPDATE 

Report By: Director of Adult and Community Services 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To note an update on developments within the mental health service 

Background 

2.  The Committee considered reports on two aspects of mental health services at its 
meeting in September.  An update from the Primary Care Trust on developments is 
attached. 

  

  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

AGENDA ITEM 13

99



100



Update on Mental Health Developments  
 
 
 
1. Eating Disorder Project 
 
The 12 month community service commenced in August 2007 with three staff in post 
- Service Coordinator/clinical psychologist, specialist nurse and care worker.  The 
pilot will be regularly monitored with formal evaluation at the end of the 12 month 
period.  
 
2. Rehab and Recovery Service Redesign 
 
Professor Shepherd completed the draft service specification for a rehabilitation and 
recovery service in September 2007.  This specification was then presented to 
service users and carers and staff at the end of September.  Comments received at 
the meetings were incorporated into the report with the final version being presented 
to the PCT in November 2007.  This specification is to be ratified by the PCT prior to 
being implemented by Mental Health Services. 
 
 
3. The Shires Re-provision 
 
The project group, including representatives of service users and carers’ resident at 
The Shires, have now completed the specifications for the new service.  The tender 
documentation will be completed by the end of November 2007 ready for the tender 
process to commence soon afterwards.  Service user and carer representatives will 
be involved throughout the tender process.  
 
 
4. Advance Housing 
 
The PCT is in active dialogue with Advance Housing on the future provision of 
service at their property in Bromyard and other possible opportunities within 
Herefordshire.  Various options have been discussed, and once a preferred option 
has been decided this will be shared with the current residents.   Initial discussions 
have taken place with the residents who are all keen to remain in Bromyard if 
possible.  These wishes will be taken into account when future provision is decided 
upon. 
 

 

101



102



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  6TH DECEMBER, 2007 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Sara Siloko Directorate Services Officer (Health) on 01432 261804 

 
workprogrammehealthdec2007cover0.doc  

 WORK PROGRAMME 

Report By: Director of Adult and Community Services 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1 To consider the Committee’s work programme. 

Financial Implications 

2 None  

Background 

3 A report on the Committee’s current work programme will be made to each of the 
scheduled quarterly meetings of this Scrutiny Committee.  A copy of the work 
programme is attached at appendix 1. 

4 The programme may be modified by the Chairman following consultation with the 
Vice-Chairman and the Director of Adult and Community Services in response to 
changing circumstances. 

5. Should any urgent, prominent or high profile issue arise, the Chairman may consider 
calling an additional meeting to consider that issue. 

6. Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact the Directorate Services Officer (Health) to 
log the issue so that it may be taken into consideration when planning future agendas 
or when revising the work programme. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT subject to any comment or issues raised by the Committee the 
Committee work programme be approved and reported to the Strategic 
Monitoring Committee. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 14

103



104



Appendix 1 

Health Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2007/08 

 

To be scheduled 

 • Commissioning of provider services 

• Annual Health Check - finalise Annual Healthcheck 
Commentaries (including presentations from health bodies 
as necessary) 

• Elderly Falls Review - Report 

April 2008 

 • Update on Procurement Process For the Local Involvement 
Network (LINk) 

• Changes in the Management of Mental Health Services 

• Reconfiguration of Mental Health Services 

• Public Service Trust Update 

• Update on Procurement Process For the Local Involvement 
Network (LINk) 

• Update on specialist Children’s Services Development 

Scrutiny Reviews • Access to health 1) for ethnic minorities – Scoping 
Statement 

• Access to Health 2) Scoping Statement 

 
 

Other issues 

 

• Councillors’ potential role in managing public expectation within their constituencies 

 

• Cancer Services 

• Stroke Services  (further update in due course)  

Proposal to look at the long-term implications for people in the county of having an 
inappropriate diet. 

 

 

 

 

 
Further additions to the work programme will be made as required 

 

 

105



106


	Agenda
	
	4 MINUTES
	6 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE COUNCIL AND THE HEALTH PROTECTION AGENCY
	7 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2007
	13 MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES - UPDATE
	mental health update PCT - DEC 07

	14 WORK PROGRAMME
	Health Scrutiny Committee wp @28 November 2007


